# WE'VE GOT THE POWER

## WOMEN, ADOLESCENT GIRLS AND THE HIV RESPONSE

This publication marks the 25th anniversary of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action. It is dedicated to the women leaders and allied community mobilizers who have devoted their lives to advancing the human rights and dignity of all people affected by the HIV epidemic, and to opposing social injustice, gender inequality, stigma and discrimination, and violence.

Unless otherwise indicated, the HIV-related statistics cited in this publication reflect the most recent UNAIDS data available.

# WE'VE GOT THE POWER

## WOMEN, ADOLESCENT GIRLS AND THE HIV RESPONSE

## FOREWORD

Twenty-five years ago, governments took the historic step of adopting the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, to this day the most comprehensive and progressive global policy road map for fulfilling the human rights of women and girls and achieving gender equality.

Progress has been made in key areas. More girls are in school and gender gaps in primary school are closing globally; in some countries, there are more women involved in political leadership; and other countries have worked to protect women's rights in legislation. Medical breakthroughs and the activism of women and communities have saved and improved the lives of millions living with and affected by HIV. We have scaled up HIV treatment so that by 2019, there were over 24 million people on treatment, including more than 13 million women aged 15 years and over.

But no country has achieved gender equality to date. Women still have far fewer economic opportunities than men and shoulder most unpaid care and domestic work. Gender-based discrimination and violence are still far too common throughout our societies.

This report shows how the HIV epidemic holds a mirror up to these inequalities and injustices, and how the gaps in rights and services for women and girls are exacerbating the epidemic.

AIDS-related illnesses are the leading cause of death among women of reproductive age globally; every week 6000 adolescent girls and young women around the world are acquiring HIV—most of them in Africa; and women from key populations most impacted by the epidemic are between five to 19 times more likely to be living with HIV than other adult women.

This is unacceptable, it is avoidable and it must end.

Women and adolescent girls are demanding their rights. Governments must act on those demands by providing the resources and services to protect their rights and properly respond to their needs and perspectives.

In practice, this means providing all girls with at least quality secondary education, as well as comprehensive

sexuality education for all, holistic and dignified care for women and girls, and decent employment and livelihood opportunities. It also means ending violence against women and girls, and safeguarding their sexual and reproductive health and rights—which cut across every aspect of their lives. Removing discriminatory and punitive laws that stigmatize women and girls and ensuring equality before the law—is fundamental.

The empowerment of women and girls and the fulfilment of their human rights is crucial. This must be a decade of acceleration towards reaching the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, including ending the HIV epidemic.

No more excuses. We need bold feminist-led action to end gender inequities, confront taboos around women's sexuality and stop denying women their basic freedoms and autonomy regarding their own bodies and life choices.

UNAIDS is ready to work with governments, civil society, communities and other partners to step up the pace of delivery and meet the promises that were made to women and girls 25 years ago.

This is Generation Equality! Together, we've got the power!

#### Winnie Byanyima

**UNAIDS Executive Director** 

## CONTENTS

THE GAINS SINCE BEIJING: ARE WE ON THE RIGHT TRACK?	5
The HIV epidemic among women and adolescent girls	8
HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women	10
Fewer women and girls are dying of AIDS-related illness	12

UNFINISHED WORK: CONFRONTING GENDER INEQUALITY AND STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION Ensure legal protections to end gender discrimination, stigma and criminalization	
Guarantee women and girls equality before the law	
End punitive laws, policies and practices that harm people	18
Reform laws that punish young people's sexuality	
What women and adolescent girls want	
Prioritize women's rights to control decisions about their health and sexual and reproductive lives	
Make the HIV response work for adolescent girls and young women	
End violence against women and girls	32

PATHS TO GENDER EQUALITY AND EQUITY	. 41
References	.43
Annex	. 49

## THE GAINS SINCE BEIJING: ARE WE ON THE RIGHT TRACK?

When the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action was adopted in 1995, the global spread of HIV was approaching its peak, effective treatment was not yet available and hope was in short supply. Women were acquiring HIV at alarming rates in an epidemic that began mainly among men. Community-driven action, global political commitment and biomedical breakthroughs, however, have steadily changed that.

By the turn of the millennium, one of the greatest public health achievements of humankind was unfolding. HIV prevention and treatment programmes around the world, many of them community-based, have reversed the global trend in new HIV infections. The rapid scale-up of antiretroviral therapy prevented an estimated 13.8 million [10.8 million–18.8 million] deaths globally between 1995 and 2018, and by mid-2019, an estimated 24.5 million [21.6 million–25.5 million] people living with HIV were receiving treatment. As a result, HIV has been transformed into a manageable chronic health condition for the majority of people living with HIV. Expanding access to treatment is also key for prevention, because people with undetectable viral loads cannot sexually transmit HIV.

These achievements were driven by the determination, energy and vision of community activists and organizations around the world, momentum that has grown into a powerful global movement. Women and girls in all their diversity are central to this: they

#### Box 1 Highlights of global targets—women, girls and the HIV response

#### 2016 Political Declaration on Ending AIDS

- Reduce the number of adolescent girls and young women, aged 15 to 24 years, who are newly infected with HIV globally each year to below 100 000 by 2020 (from a 2010 baseline).
- Ensure that 90% of young people have the skills, knowledge and capacity to protect themselves from HIV and that they have access to sexual and reproductive health services by 2020.
- Ensure access to combination prevention options for at least 90% of people by 2020, especially young women and adolescent girls in high-prevalence countries and key populations.
- Ensure that 30 million people living with HIV have access to treatment through meeting the 90–90–90 targets by 2020.
- Strengthen national social and child protection systems to ensure that by 2020, 75% of people living with, at risk of and affected by HIV who are in need benefit from HIV-sensitive social protection and support programmes, particularly orphans and street children, girls and adolescents living with, at risk of and affected by HIV, as well as their families and caregivers (1).

have powered the mobilization of communities and political will, set up services and programmes, and demanded accountability from governments, public health managers and pharmaceutical companies. They have brought about momentous changes in our understanding of the HIV epidemic and how best to overcome it.

Yet too many women and girls are being left behind in the HIV response. Fulfilling the Beijing promises for their empowerment and for gender equality is key to closing the remaining gaps and achieving the global goal and targets for ending the AIDS epidemic by 2030 (Box 1). This will require political leadership and investments to make gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls central to the HIV response, and to ensure women's leadership and participation at all levels of decision-making.

### **Gaps in progress**

Although impressive, the gains made against HIV have been uneven, both geographically and by population, leaving the world off-track to reach its goal. In the countries hardest hit by HIV—all of which are in sub-Saharan Africa—adolescent girls and young women face inordinate risks of acquiring HIV. Outside that region, several dozen countries are experiencing rising numbers of new infections and deaths, mostly in communities that have been pushed to the margins by stigma and discrimination, and by punitive laws and policies.

We have the know-how to bridge those gaps, but its application and impact is muffled by political, social and economic barriers. The HIV response is most effective when state policies and social norms are transformed in ways that empower the people who are most vulnerable and enable them to access services. In many parts of the world, for instance, women and girls are prevented from controlling their own bodies, making choices about their sexual and reproductive lives, and using the health, education and social services they need.

HIV is more than a health issue: our efforts to end the epidemic are intertwined with our quest for social, economic and gender justice and human rights for all. HIV is more than a health issue: our efforts to end the epidemic are intertwined with our quest for social, economic and gender justice and human rights for all.

#### Box 2 Examples of how inequities drive the HIV epidemic among women and girls

- A lack of legal protections and enforcement against gender discrimination heightens risks to the health and well-being of women and girls. For example, while intimate partner violence is linked to higher risks of HIV for women and girls in areas of high HIV prevalence, some countries still lack legislation against domestic violence, and many more fail to criminalize marital rape. Many women living with HIV also face violence because of their status from intimate partners, in health facilities and in their communities.
- Criminalization of people based on sexuality, sexual activity, drug use, HIV status and gender further exposes key populations to stigma and discrimination and keeps them away from HIV services and care. In countries that decriminalize sex work or drug use, however, new HIV infections among these groups can drop significantly.
- Restrictive laws requiring parental consent for adolescents to access basic health services—such as for contraception and HIV testing and treatment—undermine the HIV response and have a disproportionate impact on the sexual and reproductive health of adolescent girls.
- Many women and adolescent girls around the world still do not have full control over decision-making about their sexual and reproductive lives and their own health care. Adolescent girls and young women who are married or in union tend to have the least decision-making control.
- Failure to protect the human rights of women and girls in health-care settings and to ensure their access to holistic and dignified care are major barriers hindering progress in the HIV response.
- Discrimination against women and girls when it comes to educational and economic opportunities—and restricted income-earning and livelihood prospects—leaves them exposed to risk-taking strategies that can increase their chances of acquiring HIV.
- Enabling girls to complete their education, especially through secondary education, protects them
  against HIV and improves many other health and development outcomes. Despite this, too many are
  still out of school.
- Limited access to quality comprehensive sexuality education leaves adolescents and youth at risk. Levels of knowledge among young women and men about how to prevent HIV are alarmingly low in many countries.
- Unequal power dynamics rooted in gender inequality are major drivers of the epidemic among women and girls. Harmful masculinities, for example, encourage men to take risks in their sexual behaviours and keep them away from HIV prevention, testing and treatment services, increasing the risks of acquiring HIV for women and girls and undermining an effective HIV response.

## THE HIV EPIDEMIC AMONG WOMEN AND ADOLESCENT GIRLS

Each year, fewer women and girls are acquiring HIV (Figure 1). In 1995, an estimated 1.2 million [930 000–1.6 million] women and adolescent girls (aged 15 years and older) acquired HIV globally, representing half of all new infections in that age group. By 2018, that number had dropped by 39%, to 740 000 [570 000–1.0 million], with women and adolescent girls accounting for 47% of new HIV infections among people aged 15 years and older. However, this falls short of the global target of reducing the number of new infections among individuals (aged 15 and older) by 75% by 2020.<sup>1</sup>

Gender discrimination in the context of violence, poverty and insecurity continues to stoke excessive HIV risk among women and girls and block access to services, especially among those from marginalized and excluded communities (Box 2). Women and girls in sub-Saharan Africa, the region with the largest HIV epidemics in the world, are especially impacted: in 2018, women accounted for 59% of new infections among adults (15 years and older) in the region, a share that has remained largely unchanged since 1995. In eastern and southern Africa alone, an estimated 12 million [10.7 million–13.4 million] women were living with HIV.

The pace and even the direction of change varies considerably between regions (Figure 2). For instance, new HIV infections among women declined in Asia and the Pacific, the Caribbean, sub-Saharan Africa, and western and central Europe and North America. In Latin America, however, declines in HIV infections stalled in the early 2000s, while the number of new HIV infections among women has been increasing in eastern Europe and central Asia, and the Middle East and North Africa.

1 From a 2010 baseline.



New HIV infections among women aged 15 years and older New HIV infections among young women aged 15–24 years
Target for new HIV infections among young women aged 15–24 years

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates, 2019.



## HIV PREVENTION AMONG ADOLESCENT GIRLS AND YOUNG WOMEN

Between 1995 and 2018, the steepest decrease in new HIV infections among women occurred among adolescent girls and young women (aged 15 to 24 years)—a decline of 44% globally. Prevention programmes that focus on this age group are having an impact.

Nonetheless, in 2018, approximately 6000 adolescent girls and young women acquired HIV each week, and they accounted for 60% of the estimated 510 000 [300 000–740 000] new HIV infections in that age group. In sub-Saharan Africa, gender-related factors fueling the epidemic are especially stark: adolescent girls and young women were more than twice (2.4 times) as likely to acquire HIV than their male peers (Figure 3).

The world is still a long way from achieving the global target of reducing new HIV infections among adolescent girls and young women to fewer than 100 000 by 2020: in 2018, that number stood at 310 000 [190 000–460 000], three times higher than the target.

## Figure 3 Adolescent girls and young women in sub-Saharan Africa are much more likely to acquire HIV than their male peers

New HIV infections among women and men, by age, eastern and southern Africa and western and central Africa, 2018



■Male ■Female

Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates, 2019.

### Women from key populations and other marginalized communities are especially vulnerable

Outside sub-Saharan Africa, most women at risk of HIV infection or those living with HIV belong to marginalized communities, such as sex workers, women who inject drugs, transgender women and women in prison (often referred to as "key populations" in HIV literature). They also may be the sexual partners of men who themselves belong to key populations (such as men who inject drugs or gay men and other men who have sex with men).

While key populations represent only a small proportion of the general population, they are at much higher risk of HIV infection. Globally, more than half of new HIV infections in 2018 were among people belonging to key populations and their sexual partners.

In most countries, women from key populations have much higher chances of living with HIV than other women. The risk of living with HIV is approximately 19 times higher for transgender women and 17 times higher for women who inject drugs than for other women aged 15 to 49 years. Female and transgender sex workers are 11 times more likely to be living with HIV—and women in prison are five times more likely—than other adult women. Their higher risk compared to other women is reflected in the high HIV prevalence within these populations in most countries where recent data are available.

Gender inequality, stigma and discrimination, criminalization, violence and other human rights violations prevent women from key populations from seeking and receiving the services and support they need. For example, in six of the 13 countries that reported data to UNAIDS in recent years, less than half of transgender women stated that they were able to access multiple HIV prevention services (Figure 4).

Women and girls caught in humanitarian crises also face circumstances that can heighten their risk of acquiring HIV and other health threats due to generalized instability, violence, fractured communities and collapsed health systems. Displaced and refugee populations are seldom included in national HIV policies, leaving them without reliable access to services for preventing and managing HIV infection (2). In 2019, only 25 of 97 reporting countries stated they had a strategy guiding their national HIV response that addressed internally displaced people, and the same low number of countries stated they had the same for refugees.

### Figure 4

## Prevention services are missing transgender women in many countries

Percentage of transgender women who reported receiving at least two prevention services in the past three months, countries with available data, 2016–2018



Note 1: The use of an asterisk (\*) indicates that data for marked countries come from programme data (which tend to show higher values) and not from a survey.

Note 2: Possible prevention services received: condoms and lubricant, counselling on condom use and safe sex, and testing of sexually transmitted infections.

Source: UNAIDS Global AIDS Monitoring, 2019 (see https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).

For women and girls on the move—especially undocumented and low-income migrants discrimination, legal and policy barriers, provider attitudes, and language and cultural barriers hinder their access to HIV and health services. Social intolerance and exclusionary immigration policies heighten people's fears of arrest and deportation if they do seek services (3–5). Migrant women and girls also face potential sexual and physical violence perpetrated by smugglers and traffickers, border patrol authorities and fellow migrants (6).

## FEWER WOMEN AND GIRLS ARE DYING OF AIDS-RELATED ILLNESS

Globally in 2018, about 68% [52–82%] of women and girls (aged 15 years and older) living with HIV were receiving treatment. While immense progress has been achieved, AIDS-related illnesses remain the leading cause of death globally for women aged 15 to 49 years (7).

Women and girls comprised about 52% of people aged 15 or older who were living with HIV globally in 2018, with eastern and southern Africa home to almost two thirds (64%) of that global total (Figure 5). Two decades ago, very few people in that region were receiving life-saving antiretroviral therapy; by 2018, approximately 72% [56–84%] of women and girls (15 years and older) living with HIV were on treatment, and about 64% [55–72%] of women and girls living with HIV had reduced their viral load, enabling them to lead healthy and productive lives. Treatment coverage has also improved for men and boys, although in all but one region it remains lower than among women and girls. This disparity is most pronounced in western and

Distribution of women and girls aged



Source: UNAIDS epidemiological estimates, 2019.

central Africa, where an estimated 61% [32–67%] of women living with HIV were receiving HIV treatment in 2018, compared with 40% [18–41%] of their male peers.

Despite progress, an estimated 770 000 [570 000–1.1 million] people globally died of AIDS in 2018. Women and girls accounted for 41% of those deaths. In eastern and southern Africa, the epidemic claimed 310 000 [230 000–400 000] lives in 2018, 49% of them women and girls. Major gaps therefore persist in the continuum of HIV care (Figure 6). In eastern Europe and central Asia and the Middle East and North Africa, regions where antiretroviral therapy is difficult to access, AIDS-related deaths among women of all ages have been rising since 1995, although there have been slight declines in recent years. Approximately 46% of women living with HIV in eastern Europe and central Asia were receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2018; in the Middle East and North Africa, that rate was roughly one in three (35%).

#### More women and girls than ever know their HIV status and are receiving treatment, but many still miss out

Levels of knowledge of HIV status among women living with HIV are close to the 2020 target of 90%. In eastern and southern Africa, an estimated 88% [78–>95%] of women and girls living with HIV (aged 15 years and older) knew their HIV status in 2018, comparable to the corresponding 84% [73–>95%] of women globally.

Those achievements are partly due to programmes that routinely offer HIV testing to women when they become pregnant and seek antenatal care services. Harmful gender norms also discourage men from seeking an HIV test and other health services. As such, women are more likely to know their HIV status than men. This is a cause for concern for HIV prevention among women, because HIV-positive men who do not know their HIV status and are not on treatment can transmit HIV to their sexual partners.

However, women's knowledge of their HIV status varies widely between countries, reflecting the different degrees of political will, social exclusion and intersecting forms of discrimination and criminalization that shape their realities. Among key populations, knowledge of HIV status is alarmingly low. Survey data show that, on average globally, only about half of people who inject drugs know their HIV



More women and girls are benefitting from HIV services, but the gaps must be closed Testing and treatment cascade, women and girls, 15 years and older, globally, 2015–2018



- People living with HIV who know their status
- People living with HIV who know their HIV status and are on treatment
- People living with HIV who are virally suppressed
- □ Gap to reaching the global 2020 targets (90–90–90)
- Gap to reaching all people living with HIV

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2019.

Note: The "cascade" concept is used for monitoring results and gaps at each stage of the HIV continuum of care—from testing, to starting and staying on treatment, and on to achieving viral load suppression. Full achievement of global targets by 2020 is equal to 90% of people living with HIV knowing their HIV-positive status, 81% of all people living with HIV receiving antiretroviral treatment, and 73% of all people living with HIV having a suppressed viral load.

status, as do about two thirds of sex workers and transgender persons.

#### Great progress has been made in keeping pregnant women and mothers healthy and preventing vertical transmission of HIV to newborns

Nearly 82% [62–>95%] of pregnant women living with HIV worldwide were receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2018, and 92% [69–>95%] were doing so in eastern and southern Africa. This means that approximately 200 000 [140 000–320 000] infants avoided acquiring HIV in 2018 alone.

However, overall progress in preventing vertical transmission of HIV and scaling up treatment coverage has stalled in recent years. Slow progress in other regions means that the 2018 global target of reaching 95% of pregnant women living with HIV with antiretroviral therapy and sustaining them on lifelong treatment was missed (8). Coverage of antiretroviral treatment among pregnant women living with HIV was only 28% [16–47%] in the Middle East and North Africa in 2018, 56% [47–71%] in Asia and the Pacific, and 59% [42–78%] in western and central Africa.

Thirteen countries or territories have been certified for having eliminated vertical transmission of HIV since 2015 (9), but none of them are in sub-Saharan Africa, which was home to about 86% of all children newly infected with HIV in 2018.

Pregnant adolescent girls, young mothers and women belonging to key populations encounter many additional barriers when trying to access and stay on treatment. Denigrating social attitudes and discriminatory practices limit their rights to access basic information and quality care, and inhibit their rights to make their own decisions, including about childbearing and breastfeeding.



## UNFINISHED WORK: CONFRONTING GENDER INEQUALITY AND STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION

A decade remains before the 2030 deadline for ending the AIDS epidemic. The remarkable achievements since 1995—in preventing HIV, saving lives and improving the quality of life of people living with and affected by HIV—are proof that concerted action can change the course of this epidemic.

Despite progress, shortcomings persist, and fulfilling the promises made in Beijing 25 years ago will be crucial to surmounting them. Discrimination against women and girls and violations of human rights, intersecting with other forms of discrimination—such as those based on income, race, ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation and gender identity—are stifling HIV responses. Gender inequality restricts women's control in deciding how, when and with whom they have sex. It also shapes women's use of HIV and other health services, and their chances of leading lives free of gender-based violence.

Discrimination in education and economic opportunities undermines women's and girls' agency and limits their decision-making power within relationships, families and societies, heightening their risks of acquiring HIV (10). Many women have limited financial autonomy, are disproportionately represented in informal and unregulated sectors of the economy, shoulder the burdens of unpaid care and domestic work to an overwhelming degree, and lack equal property and inheritance rights. These experiences shape the lives of women and girls around the world. The empowerment of women and girls in all their diversity and the fulfilment of their human rights are essential for creating more just, equitable and prosperous societies. They also are a vital part of an effective HIV response. This must include addressing harmful gender norms rooted in patriarchal systems and boosting men's responsibility and accountability for respecting women's rights and freedoms.

Continued progress must build on achievements to date by leveraging the accumulated biomedical, behavioral and practical know-how on prevention and what works in HIV programming. Gender and other inequities holding back further progress must be challenged and eliminated. Seismic shifts are needed in the legal, policy, institutional and societal realms to take the HIV response to the next level. This will require:

- Ensuring legal protections to end gender discrimination, stigma and criminalization, and guaranteeing women and girls equality before the law.
- 2. Ending punitive laws and policies based on sexuality, sexual activity, drug use, HIV status or gender.
- Reforming laws that punish young people's sexuality and changing parental consent requirements that threaten the right to health of adolescents.

- 4. Prioritizing women's rights to control decisions about their health and their sexual and reproductive lives.
- 5. Responding to what women and adolescent girls need and want by protecting their rights to holistic and dignified prevention, treatment and care services and by addressing the range of health issues that affect women and girls living with and at high risk of HIV.
- 6. Making the HIV response work for adolescent girls and young women. This includes enabling them to complete their schooling and access comprehensive sexuality education and youth-friendly services, and investing in multisectoral approaches that address their multifaceted needs and rights.
- 7. Ending violence against women and girls and addressing the interlinkages with HIV by expanding prevention efforts and support for survivors.
- 8. Transforming gender norms and harmful masculinities, including through community mobilization, and starting early by engaging girls and boys.
- 9. Securing paths to gender equality and equity by investing in gender-transformative approaches.
- 10. Meaningfully engaging women and girls in all their diversity in decision-making and supporting the leadership roles of women's organizations and feminist movements in the HIV response.

Seismic shifts are needed in the legal, policy, institutional and societal realms to take the HIV response to the next level.

## ENSURE LEGAL PROTECTIONS TO END GENDER DISCRIMINATION, STIGMA AND CRIMINALIZATION

Punitive and discriminatory laws and practices often target women and other groups that do not adhere to prevailing conventions around sex, sexuality and gender. It takes social mobilization and strong political leadership to shift public attitudes and promote the legislative and policy reforms that can help end such stigma and discrimination and criminalization that are undermining the HIV response.

## GUARANTEE WOMEN AND GIRLS EQUALITY BEFORE THE LAW

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "Create and maintain a non-discriminatory and gender-sensitive legal environment by reviewing legislation with a view to striving to remove discriminatory provisions as soon as possible, preferably by 2005, and eliminating legislative gaps that leave women and girls without protection of their rights and without effective recourse against gender-based discrimination."

Beijing+5, para. 68 (b)<sup>2</sup>

While some countries have worked to enshrine and protect women's rights in laws and statutes, others have been slow to act. Laws that discriminate against women and girls remain widely in force. For instance:

- The Beijing Declaration target calling for the elimination of all gender discriminatory legislation by 2005 was missed (11). By one estimate, legal protections were inadequate for 2.5 billion women around the world in 2015 (12).
- More than 1 billion women lack legal protection against domestic and sexual violence by intimate partners or family members (13). Among

190 countries reporting these data in 2019, 35 lacked legislation addressing domestic violence (14). In 2017, only 77 of 185 countries explicitly criminalized marital rape (15).

- At least 117 countries permitted girls to be legally married before the age of 18 in 2015 (16). In more than 50 reporting countries, the minimum legal age of marriage is lower for women than men (15). Globally, more than 20% of young women were married before the age of 18 (17).<sup>3</sup>
- Thirty-six of 190 reporting countries lack any laws to counter gender-based discrimination in employment, and 50 have no legislation addressing sexual harassment in the workplace (14, 18). Only 88 of 190 countries have laws mandating equal pay for work of equal value, and nearly 65% of countries lack legislation on sexual harassment in educational institutions (14, 15).

Even where legislation protecting equality exists, discriminatory social norms and institutional practices can lead to weak enforcement. This can also happen when harmful customary law provisions are not aligned with international human rights standards and national bodies of law. Changing discriminatory legislation that limits women's power and autonomy is essential, and it is especially important in the context of the HIV response.

**BOTTOM LINE:** Fast-track legal reforms and enforcement to uphold women's human rights, backed by adequate funding and strengthened institutions. Accompany the reforms with awareness-raising, community mobilization and legal literacy so that women know their rights and entitlements, not least in relation to health and HIV, and so they know where to seek legal aid and access to justice when their rights are violated.

<sup>2</sup> The "Beijing promises" refer to select highlights from the 1995 Beijing Platform for Action or its five-year review of implementation—the Political Declaration and Outcome, which was adopted at the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly. It should be noted that subsequent reviews over the past 25 years at the intergovernmental global and regional levels further reinforce and build on the commitments cited in this report, including resolutions of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women that are dedicated to women, girls and the HIV response.

<sup>3</sup> Based on a subset of 98 countries covering 77% of the population of women aged 20 to 24 years.

## END PUNITIVE LAWS, POLICIES AND PRACTICES THAT HARM PEOPLE

THE BEIJING PROMISE: Governments would "review and amend laws and combat practices . . . that may contribute to women's susceptibility to HIV iinfection . . . and implement legislation, policies and practices to protect women, adolescents and young girls from discrimination related to HIV/AIDS"; and ensure that women living with HIV "do not suffer stigmatization and discrimination."

Beijing Platform for Action, para. 108 (b, d)

Around the world, many countries maintain legislation and coercive practices that contradict the basic tenets of human rights. Some of these laws limit the sexual and reproductive choices of women or curb the agency of women living with HIV. Others criminalize people for their sexual identity or gender expression, for selling sexual services, for using illegal drugs, and for transmitting HIV or failing to disclose their HIV-positive status. Such laws and policies—and the stigma and discrimination they encourage—prevent people from using the services they need to protect their health and well-being (Figure 7).

Sex work is criminalized or otherwise punished in at least 88 countries. Punitive laws limit the ability of sex workers to negotiate condom use with clients and avert violence (19). For example, it is not uncommon for police to regard the possession of condoms as "evidence" that women are selling sex and to use that as a basis for harassment, bribery, arrest or violence.

Transgender persons, who are criminalized or prosecuted in at least 19 countries, are similarly deterred from seeking services. Same-sex sexual relations are criminalized in at least 66 countries and are punishable by death in at least 10 countries. Punitive laws on drug use have negative impacts on HIV prevention and treatment and they heighten the vulnerabilities of women who use drugs (20, 21, 22).

Laws criminalizing HIV transmission, non-disclosure or exposure existed in 82 of 119 reporting countries in 2019. Such laws leave open the possibility of prosecution and can heighten women's risks of violence and being blamed for "bringing HIV to the home," because they are often the first to know their status when tested for HIV (such as when seeking antenatal health services) (23). Six countries reported that the vertical transmission of HIV remains a criminal offence, and 13 reported having laws, regulations or policies in place for mandatory HIV testing for marriage.

Decriminalization works and is vital for successful HIV prevention. Modelling studies suggest that between 33% and 46% of new HIV infections among sex workers and their partners could be averted over 10 years if legal reforms and other actions are implemented to create safer work environments and facilitate safer sex (24). Similarly, in countries where drug use is decriminalized and comprehensive harm reduction is available, HIV prevalence and transmission tend to drop sharply among people who inject drugs (25, 26). In 2019, however, only 45 of 106 reporting countries had needle–syringe programmes for people who inject drugs, and only 39 of 100 reporting countries provided opioid substitution therapy.

**BOTTOM LINE:** Reform laws to end harmful criminalization and coercive practices based on people's sexuality, sexual activity, drug use, HIV status and gender. Laws and policies that promote and protect human rights can improve everyone's personal security, well-being and health, and reduce their vulnerability to the HIV epidemic.

## REFORM LAWS THAT PUNISH YOUNG PEOPLE'S SEXUALITY

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "Reaffirm the right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standards of physical and mental health, protect and promote the attainment of this right for women and girls and incorporate it in national legislation, for example; review existing legislation, including health legislation, as well as policies, where necessary, to reflect a commitment to women's health."

Beijing Platform for Action, para. 106 (b)

Laws and policies that restrict or penalize young people's sexuality are often targeted at adolescent girls and are rooted in discriminatory attitudes and taboos about women and sex. Such measures deny adolescents basic health information and tools, undermining their health and hindering HIV prevention.

## Figure 7 Criminalizing laws and coercive policies that relate to sexuality, gender and HIV remain widespread

Percentage of reporting countries with criminalizing laws and coercive policies related to HIV transmission or disclosure, mandatory HIV testing, sex work, drug use and gender identity, 2019



Source: National Commitment and Policy Instrument, 2017 and 2019; supplemented by additional sources (see references in Annex).

Data not available at this time

Data not available at this time

In some settings, health-care providers are obliged by law to report underage sex or activities such as drug use among adolescents (27). Many countries do not allow condom promotion and distribution in schools: among the 91 countries that reported having a national condom policy in 2019, only 31 stated that the policy included condom promotion in secondary schools.

Adolescent girls pay a high price when their access to essential sexual and reproductive health services is restricted. They bear the costs of misinformed and unprotected sexual relations, including unwanted pregnancies, unsafe abortions, and HIV and other sexually transmitted infections (STIs), and they forgo educational and economic opportunities due to early childbearing.

#### Parental consent requirements undermine the right to health of adolescents

Many countries have laws or policies that prevent adolescents from accessing essential health services without the consent of a parent or guardian (Figure 8). The original intention may have been to protect minors, but these stipulations often have the opposite effect and increase the risk of HIV and other health problems among adolescents (28).

A large proportion of countries across all regions restrict access to HIV testing and treatment for adolescents. In 2019, for instance, adolescents younger than 18 years needed explicit parental consent in 105 of 142 countries in order to take an HIV test. In 86 of 138 reporting countries, they needed such consent to access HIV treatment and care. These kinds of laws and policies also may complicate or hinder adolescent access to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), a highly effective prevention tool (*29*).<sup>4</sup> Research in sub-Saharan Africa shows that in countries where the age of consent is 15 years or lower, adolescents are 74% more likely to have been tested for HIV in the past twelve months compared with countries where the age of consent is 16 years or higher—with girls especially benefiting from the easier access (30).

In line with international human rights standards, once adolescents are mature enough to understand that they need sexual and reproductive health support, they should be able to access those services (31). Assuring this freedom of access requires monitoring health-care providers and service delivery, as well as promoting awareness and understanding about the reforms among adolescents and parents (32).

**BOTTOM LINE:** Remove harmful laws and lift restrictions on access to essential health services for adolescents. Promote laws and policies that protect their rights to make informed decisions about their sexuality, relationships and health.

4 PrEP is an HIV prevention breakthrough. When taken regularly, this antiretroviral pill can be highly effective for reducing HIV infections among people who are at higher risk of HIV infection.

### Figure 8 Parental or guardian consent is frequently required for adolescents to access health services

Percentage of reporting countries with laws requiring parental or guardian consent for adolescents to access contraceptives, HIV testing, HIV treatment, emergency contraception and harm reduction, by region, 2017–2019



Sources: UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017–2019; supplemented by additional sources (see references in Annex).

Note: Data on contraceptives, HIV testing and HIV treatment refer to countries with laws specifying that parental consent is required for adolescents younger than 14, 16 or 18 years of age to access these services. This does not include countries that have not legislated an age of consent. For a breakdown of laws by age and for specific country data, please see http://lawsandpolicies.unaids.org/. Data on emergency contraception and harm reduction refer to countries with laws specifying a legal age for unmarried adolescents to provide consent to access these services without parental/legal guardian consent.

## WHAT WOMEN AND ADOLESCENT GIRLS WANT

Safeguarding the human rights of all women and adolescent girls, including their sexual and reproductive health and rights, requires action on many fronts: eliminating HIV-related stigma and discrimination and ensuring that women's rights are upheld when they seek HIV and other health services; reforming laws, policies and institutional practices; and uprooting harmful gender norms and patriarchal systems that perpetuate discrimination and violence against women and girls.

Women and adolescent girls have long been treated as passive recipients of health information and services. Their rights to informed and autonomous choice, to privacy and confidentiality, and to dignified and nonjudgmental care must be protected. This is especially important when it comes to women's agency around sexuality, sexual relationships and reproduction.

Leading global surveys of women and girls have canvassed them for their first-hand accounts and their priorities when it comes to their sexual and reproductive health and rights and overcoming barriers to access HIV services (33–37). Among their top demands were the following:

- Respectful and dignified care, including more respect and understanding from health providers for lesbian, bisexual and transgender women, female sex workers and women living with HIV.
- Decriminalization of issues related to sexual and reproductive health and HIV, and cracking down on stigma and discrimination and violence, especially in their communities and in health-care settings.
- Fully functional health-care facilities that are: affordable and easier to reach, especially for women in rural areas; staffed with competent and bettersupported midwives and nurses; and equipped with water, sanitation, hygiene, medicines and supplies.
- Comprehensive sexuality education throughout the life cycle.
- Integrated HIV and sexual and reproductive health services that promote gender equality and human rights, sexual pleasure and respectful relationships, regardless of sexual identity, gender orientation and HIV status.

- Incorporating peer support in HIV treatment and care services.
- Active involvement in policy-making and in developing and providing leadership for programming.

Adolescent girls and young women surveyed in countries in sub-Saharan Africa had the following HIV prevention demands:

- Universal access to comprehensive information and youth-friendly, confidential, accessible and nonjudgmental services.
- Adequate, sustainable funding of initiatives for and by women and adolescent girls.
- Implementation of laws, policies and services that address gender-based violence.

## PRIORITIZE WOMEN'S RIGHTS TO CONTROL DECISIONS ABOUT THEIR HEALTH AND SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE LIVES

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "The human rights of women include their right to have control over and decide freely and responsibly on matters related to their sexuality, including sexual and reproductive health, free of coercion, discrimination and violence." Governments would "protect and promote human rights by ensuring that all health services and workers conform to ethical, professional and gender-sensitive standards in the delivery of women's health services, including by establishing or strengthening regulatory and enforcement mechanisms."

Beijing Platform for Action para. 96, Beijing+5, para. 72 (g)⁵

<sup>5</sup> These concepts and the term "reproductive rights" were first recognized internationally in the 1994 Programme of Action for the International Conference on Population and Development.

A quarter century ago, the landmark International Conference on Population and Development (1994) (ICPD) and the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action placed sexual and reproductive health and rights on the global human rights and development agendas. An increasing number of countries have sought to uphold those rights and freedoms, but more must be done.

Reports of reproductive rights violations continue in many parts of the world (38). As many as one in three women living with HIV reported experiencing at least one form of discrimination related to their sexual and reproductive health in a health-care setting in the past 12 months across 19 countries with available data. Forms of discrimination included: health-care providers advising or pressuring HIV-positive women not to have children or to terminate a pregnancy; access to HIV treatment being predicated on the use of certain forms of contraception; or women being denied sexual and reproductive health services due to their HIV status (39).

Strengthened oversight is needed to fulfill the promises in the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action and to protect women's reproductive rights in health-care settings. This includes ensuring that countries with laws and policies on assisted partner notification implement rights-based approaches, and that such notification is always voluntary and consensual to protect women diagnosed with HIV against breaches of confidentiality and potential risks to their health and safety (40).

Around the world, women and adolescent girls still lack control over decisions regarding their own bodies, their health, and their sexual and reproductive lives. While the degree to which women make their own decisions varies widely, in almost half of 31 countries with available data, less than 50% of women (aged 15 to 49 years) who were married or in union and using contraceptives said they controlled decisions about their sexual relations, contraceptive use and healthcare needs (Figure 9).

Women's decision-making control is also curtailed when it comes to making decisions about their health care more generally. Survey data from 48 countries show that, on average, about 30% of married women (aged 15 to 49 years) reported that they did not (alone or jointly with their husbands) make decisions about their own health-care. In western and central Africa, this figure was twice as high, with almost 60% of married women reporting they did not have the final say about their own health care. Adolescent girls and young women (aged 15 to 24 years) who are married or in union tend to have the least decision-making control. While women's decision-making about their health care tends to increase with age, education and household economic status, the extent to which that autonomy is realized also differs widely among countries (41).<sup>6</sup>

**BOTTOM LINE:** Place the right of women to control decision-making about their sexual and reproductive lives at the centre of the HIV response. Protect these rights for all individuals through laws and policies, without discrimination. Ensure access to justice and legal redress for violations of sexual and reproductive health and rights.

## The rights of women and girls to holistic and dignified care

THE BEIJING PROMISE: Implement measures "so that all women have full and equal access to comprehensive, high-quality and affordable health care, information, education and services throughout their life cycle; [and] reflect the new demands for service and care by women and girls as a result of the HIV/AIDS pandemic." Ensure non-discrimination "and respect for the privacy of those living with HIV/AIDS . . . including women and young people, so that they are . . . able to access treatment and care services without fear of stigmatization, discrimination or violence."

Beijing+5, para. 72 (g, n)

Health is one of the 12 critical areas of concern in the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action. Fulfilling the right to health of women and girls requires approaches that reflect the varied needs, challenges and preferences of individuals as they progress through life.

Health-care systems should therefore offer holistic care that takes into account not only the health needs of women and girls, but also other physical, emotional, social and economic considerations. This includes: integrating HIV with other sexual and reproductive health services; ensuring that basic needs such as food and nutrition are met; and addressing noncommunicable diseases (such as depression, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and cancers) (1, 42–45). Services must reflect what women and girls want: they should be rights-based and gender-

<sup>6</sup> Data for 2013 to 2018. The aggregated totals refer to data from 48 countries, including 12 countries in western and central Africa, and 13 countries in eastern and southern Africa.

## Figure 9 Women don't have full control of decisions about their sexual and reproductive health and lives

Percentage of women (aged 15 to 49 years) currently married or in union who are currently using contraceptives who make their own informed decisions regarding sexual relations, contraceptive use and health care, countries with available data, 2013–2018



Source: UNFPA Global Database, 2019; Demographic and Health Surveys, 2013–2018.

responsive, provided in ways that are acceptable to those receiving them. Outdated approaches and models of care that are gender-blind and ignore the voices of women and girls must be transformed.

Findings from the recent Evidence for Contraceptive Options and HIV Outcomes (ECHO) trial in eastern and southern Africa, for example, underscore the need for women-centred approaches that combine biomedical, social and economic interventions. Despite access to HIV prevention services, women participating in that trial had very high HIV incidence (about 3.8%); it was even higher among women younger than 25 years (46). This highlights the need to tackle the underlying gendered dynamics that make it difficult for women to avoid acquiring HIV infection.

Special attention must be paid to address the range of health issues that affect women and girls living with or at risk of HIV. For example, despite some progress, HIV and other sexual and reproductive health services are often narrowly focused: HIV-related services are not always integrated with family planning services or linked with mental health services or support for survivors of violence. Similarly, women from key populations require special attention, as they face very high rates of unmet need for contraception, unintended pregnancies, abortions and sexual violence (47). In addition, the organizations that are best-placed to provide support-women and peers living with HIV—too often struggle to make ends meet and are seldom integrated with mainstream service delivery systems.

Valuable opportunities to protect women's rights and health are being lost, as illustrated by the following key issues that are also critically important in the context of the HIV response.

The use of modern contraceptives has increased around the world by 25% since the 1994 ICPD conference (48). However, in low- and middleincome countries, more than 230 million women and adolescent girls who want to avoid pregnancy are not using modern methods of contraception (48). In sub-Saharan Africa, almost 50% of women of reproductive age (15 to 49 years) do not have their demand for modern contraceptive methods satisfied, a gap that widens to approximately 60% among adolescent girls (aged 15 to 19 years) (41).

Knowledge, access and use of female and male condoms has stagnated in the region with the largest HIV epidemics: in sub-Saharan Africa, for example, less than half the estimated need for female and male condoms was met in 2017, despite condoms still being the only tool that provides triple protection against unintended pregnancy, HIV and other STIs. By comparison to the early 2000s, the large population of adolescents growing up in Africa are not being exposed to the same degree of intense messaging and skills-building on condom use. In addition, rural and poor populations, who are priority groups for HIV prevention in some areas, have limited access to condoms (49).

Pregnancy and childbearing rates among adolescent girls declined by about 30% between 1994 and 2017 (50). Nonetheless, some 21 million adolescent girls (aged 15 to 19 years) every year become pregnant, and 16 million give birth (51, 52). Rates of early childbearing among adolescent girls are highest in sub-Saharan Africa (Figure 10). While maternal mortality has decreased by 38% since 2000 (53), it remains the top cause of death among adolescent girls (aged 15 to 19 years), and it is the second leading cause among women of reproductive age globally (7). Many more women and girls suffer severe and chronic morbidities from complications related to pregnancy and childbirth (53). Women living with HIV are also at greater risk of poor health outcomes associated with malaria such as maternal and infant mortality and morbidity, with potentially serious drug interactions that hamper effective treatment for both infections (55-56). However, an encouraging development is that HIV-related effects on maternal mortality had been reduced by 2017 in comparison to 2005 (53).

**One million new cases of STIs** occur each day around the world (57). Some STIs increase the likelihood of HIV infection and transmission, but are curable (58). STIs can also be more difficult to treat and can lead to more rapid disease progression in people living with HIV. Women who have the human papillomavirus (HPV), the principal cause of cervical cancer, are almost twice as susceptible to acquiring HIV (59), and nearly 90% of cases of cervical cancer are attributable to HPV (60).

An estimated 570 000 women develop cervical

**cancer** each year. In 2018, the disease claimed the lives of more than 300 000 women (*61*), nine in ten of them in low- and middle-income countries (*62*). Cervical cancer is the most common cancer among women living with HIV: their risk of developing invasive cervical cancer is five times greater, and they progress to cervical cancer much more quickly than women not living with HIV (*63*). Cervical cancer can also be treated if detected early, but integration of screening in HIV services is far from the norm: only about half of reporting countries recommend it in their national

#### Figure 10 Childbearing among adolescent girls remains very high in some regions



Estimated number of annual births per 1000 adolescents (aged 15 to 19 years), by region, 2000–2005 and 2015–2020

2000-2005 2015-2020

Source: World population prospects 2017—data booklet. 2017 revision. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division; 2017.

HIV policies. Cervical cancer can be prevented with the HPV vaccine, which is most effective when administered in adolescence before girls become sexually active (64). In 2019, 51% of countries reported that they had incorporated HPV vaccination into their national immunization programmes (65).

**Mental health conditions** affect many women and adolescent girls, and they can also compromise the ability of people to prevent or manage HIV infection (66). For women living with HIV, these conditions include depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress and substance use disorders (67, 68). Pregnant women living with HIV tend to have poorer mental health than pregnant women who have not acquired HIV (69), and an estimated one in three women living with HIV experiences postnatal depression (70). Access to psychosocial and mental health support for women and adolescent girls living with HIV should include counselling on sexuality, sexual and intimate partner relations, self-stigma, self-esteem, body image and depression. **BOTTOM LINE:** Intensify efforts and investments to ensure universal access to quality, integrated and affordable sexual and reproductive health services, including for HIV prevention, testing and treatment, for all women and adolescent girls who need and want them, with special attention to providing holistic and dignified care to those living with and at risk of HIV. Transform health systems to be gender-responsive and monitor them for compliance with human rights standards. Support and guide health-care workers to deliver on the Beijing promises.

## More choice and medical innovations for women

THE BEIJING PROMISE: Develop "safe, affordable, effective and easily accessible female controlled methods, including such methods as microbicides and female condoms that protect against sexually transmitted infections and HIV/AIDS."

Beijing+5, para. 103 (b)

Biomedical innovations have been invaluable for averting illness and death and for improving quality of life. New methods are on the horizon that can significantly improve the landscape of HIV tools tailored for women and expand their options and choice.

Women have been demanding better access to both a full range of contraceptives and to more HIV prevention options that they can control and that work for them in their different realities and phases of life. For too many women and adolescent girls, access to the current options are limited by provider and health system biases, and by a lack of information. Genderrelated social and economic barriers that women face also are underlying determinants of their access to available medical tools and their use of them. For example, as PrEP rolls out in sub-Saharan Africa as an additional prevention option for young women at higher risk of HIV infection (71), practical, social and gender-related considerations must be taken into account to facilitate its use (72). This includes ensuring that it is made available in youth-friendly ways, with screening and support for gender-based violence and mental health issues (72), and enabling support from peers, parents and family members (73).

Investments in the search for HIV prevention options for women hold promising potential. For example, the monthly Dapivirine microbicidal vaginal ring, which is pending regulatory approval, would provide a long-acting HIV prevention tool (74). Promising and innovative HIV prevention technologies under development also include implants the size of a matchstick (75) and other microbicidal intravaginal rings that would protect against HIV, unintended pregnancy and/or STIs (76, 77). Such methods would offer women discretion, convenience and more solutions for their health care. **BOTTOM LINE:** Expand options and choice for women and girls to prevent unwanted pregnancy, HIV, STIs and other sexual and reproductive problems, including through biomedical research on women-controlled methods that involves them throughout the process. Pay particular attention to young women and women from key populations.

### Universal health coverage

Universal health coverage involves a push for equitable access to quality health care (78). It needs to entail a wide range of improvements, including removing genderspecific barriers, eliminating stigma and discrimination, developing tailored strategies for adolescents, and engaging diverse communities of women in decision-making and monitoring access to their entitlements.

It is important that HIV and women's sexual and reproductive health and rights issues are not neglected as countries roll out universal health coverage. Currently, provisions for HIV, STIs and other sexual and reproductive health issues vary widely in universal health coverage plans, some of which envisage coverage of only a few components or are vague about service coverage, as found in a study of six sub-Saharan African countries (79). Adolescent health needs, comprehensive sexuality education, the prevention and management of gender-based violence, and the health rights and needs of key populations also need to feature prominently in the universal health coverage plans and funding decisions of countries (80).

Universal health coverage plans must also guarantee that all people living with HIV have access to lifelong treatment and care, and that they incorporate support to sustain community services led by women and people living with HIV. Furthermore, since policies are not always implemented as planned, national accountability mechanisms will need to be strong and inclusive of women's organizations and civil society in order to ensure that both public and private providers meet their obligations.

## MAKE THE HIV RESPONSE WORK FOR ADOLESCENT GIRLS AND YOUNG WOMEN

THE BEIJING PROMISE: Develop "educational programmes for girls and boys and the creation of integrated services . . . taking into account the importance of such education and services to personal development and self-esteem, as well as the urgent need to avoid unwanted pregnancy, the spread of sexually transmitted diseases, especially HIV/AIDS, and such phenomena as sexual violence and abuse."

Beijing Platform for Action, para. 83(l)

In recent years, there has been progress in understanding and applying effective approaches to prevent HIV among adolescent girls and young women (81). Those approaches need to be taken to scale, with tailored strategies for diverse groups and the active participation of young women in shaping, innovating and implementing them.

Among the 28 countries that have joined the Global HIV Prevention Coalition, for example, only one third of the administrative areas with very high HIV incidence had dedicated comprehensive HIV prevention programmes for adolescent girls and young women in 2018. This is well short of the global target to reach 90% of adolescent girls, women and their partners who are at higher risk of HIV in high-incidence settings with effective prevention services by 2020 (82).

Countries that do invest in scaling up effective programmes show impressive results. In Lesotho, for example, where a comprehensive package of services is being provided in all 10 districts, new HIV infections among adolescent girls and young women were reduced by 41% between 2010 and 2018 (82).

Successfully preventing HIV and other health threats among adolescent girls and young women requires approaches that are comprehensive—and that go beyond health services. Among them is building gender-equitable relationships and social norms to engage men and boys in shared responsibilities and to shift the onus currently placed upon young women to prevent pregnancy and use PrEP. Multifaceted social and economic strategies are also very much needed to reduce their vulnerabilities. For example, young women in studies in South Africa who have been involved in transactional sex—often with older men and often in the context of limited educational and livelihood opportunities—had roughly two to three times the risk of living with HIV than other young women (83). Rather than being narrowly focused on single health issues or interventions, strategies should encompass the broader needs and concerns that shape young women's lives, beginning with their rights to information and education.

### Ensure all girls and boys can complete school, and close gender gaps in education

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "[A]dvance the goal of equal access to education by taking measures to eliminate discrimination in education at all levels on the basis of gender, race, language, religion, national origin, age or disability, or any other form of discrimination and, as appropriate, consider establishing procedures to address grievances; . . . close the gender gap in primary and secondary school education by the year 2005."

#### Beijing Platform for Action, para. 80 (a, b)

Access to education is essential for people's well-being and personal development. Closing gender gaps in education and enabling all children to complete a quality education has many benefits, including improving health outcomes, advancing gender equality and reducing poverty (84, 85). Education for girls, especially secondary education, also has a protective effect against HIV (86–88).

Despite this, an estimated 258 million children, adolescents and youth were not in school in 2018, representing one sixth of the global population of this age group. Poverty, political conflict and humanitarian crises are key factors that keep children out of school (89). In sub-Saharan Africa, 38% of girls and 35% of boys of secondary school age were out of school in 2018 (90). Overall, nearly one in three adolescent girls (aged 10 to 19 years) from the poorest households around the world has never been to school (91).

**BOTTOM LINE:** Fulfill the Beijing commitments to: ensure universal access to quality education for all girls and boys, at least through secondary education; close the remaining gender gaps at all levels of education; and eliminate all forms of gender stereotyping, discrimination and violence in educational systems. This is paramount for their health, well-being and empowerment—and for an effective HIV response.

## Get real about comprehensive sexuality education

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "Recognize the specific needs of adolescents and implement specific appropriate programmes, such as education and information on sexual and reproductive health issues and on sexually transmitted diseases, including HIV/AIDS"; and "disseminate accessible information, through public health campaigns, the media, reliable counselling and the education system, designed to ensure that women and men, particularly young people, can acquire knowledge about their health, especially information on sexuality and reproduction."

#### Beijing Platform for Action, para. 107 (e, g)

Universal access to quality comprehensive sexuality education is crucial, especially for young people. It enables young people to make informed decisions and be empowered as they explore their sexuality and relationships. It helps them acquire the skills and values of mutual respect, tolerance, gender equality and non-violence, and it equips them with the knowledge they need to protect their health and well-being more effectively (92).

Research indicates that sexuality education and HIV prevention programmes that address gender inequality and power dynamics in relationships are five times more effective at preventing STIs and unplanned pregnancies than programmes that ignore those issues (93). When tailored to the diverse needs of young people, comprehensive sexuality education can also promote more inclusive attitudes and behaviours (92). In many countries, however, sexuality education is still inadequate and fails to support young people to make healthy, informed choices about sexuality and relationships.

Although most countries report that they have education policies that provide life skills-based HIV and sexuality education in secondary schools (87 out of 103 reporting countries in 2019), knowledge of HIV prevention among young people is alarmingly low. Surveys in low- and middle-income countries with data for 2013 to 2018 show that fewer than one in three young people had accurate knowledge about HIV transmission and prevention (Figure 11). In those countries, only 23% of young women and 29% of young men demonstrated comprehensive and correct knowledge of HIV (41). In sub-Saharan Africa, seven in ten young women did not have comprehensive knowledge about HIV. These knowledge gaps extend to other aspects of sexual and reproductive health, including STIs, contraception and misconceptions about menstruation (94).

Levels of HIV knowledge vary across countries, depending on the national and local context, and they often are associated with social and economic inequities. In many countries, levels of comprehensive and correct knowledge of HIV among adolescent girls and women are low, but they tend to be lowest among those who live in poverty (Figure 12) and those with lower levels of education. They also are lower among rural women than those in urban areas (41).

Adults in some communities are reluctant to support comprehensive sexuality education because they believe it encourages promiscuity and risk-taking. The evidence indicates that those assumptions are mistaken: quality sexuality education has been shown to delay sexual initiation, improve the use of condoms and contraceptives, and support the prevention of HIV infection (95).

Many parents have not had the benefit of sexuality education themselves, and they may be uncomfortable discussing sex and relationships with their adolescents. Once properly engaged in understanding the importance of such education for their children, however, parents can be very supportive.

**BOTTOM LINE:** Make comprehensive sexuality education available to all adolescents and young people, both in and out of school, in accordance with international standards (92). Develop programmes with their direct engagement, incorporate issues of gender, violence and rights (92), and ensure referrals to the range of services and supports they may need—backed by adequate funding. Provide teachers and outreach workers with sustained support and guidance (96, 97). Seize opportunities to expand access to sexuality education in the digital era.

## Improve HIV treatment and care for adolescent girls and young women

Adolescent girls and young women who are at high risk of or living with HIV are a missed priority in testing, treatment and care programmes (98). For example, pregnant adolescent girls are less likely than adult women to know their HIV status (99, 100), to access and receive HIV treatment, and to receive timely antenatal care (101). They also face major challenges in disclosing their HIV status to partners and families, and in adhering to HIV treatment (102).

#### Figure 11 Young people's knowledge of HIV prevention varies across countries, but remains low overall

Percentage of young people aged 15 to 24 years with comprehensive correct knowledge of HIV, countries with available data, 2013–2018



Source: Population-based surveys, 2013-2018.

#### Figure 12 Knowledge of HIV among women tends to be greater among those with higher incomes

Percentage of women aged 15 to 49 years with comprehensive correct knowledge of HIV, by wealth quintile, countries with available data, 2013–2018



Those challenges can be especially difficult for young women from key populations, such as sex workers and women who use drugs.

Adolescents born with HIV—or those who acquired it during breastfeeding—require particular attention to ensure they are not left behind. They were missed by HIV services as infants, and some remain unaware of their HIV status or are not receiving treatment. Although a majority of countries state that they have strategies to transition adolescents born with HIV to adult care, actual adolescent-focused approaches are rare (103), even though evidence shows that adolescents have better treatment results when services are tailored for them and when they receive appropriate support, including from peers and parents (104). **BOTTOM LINE:** Make the HIV response work for adolescent girls and young women by training and equipping health-care providers to provide friendly, nonjudgmental HIV-related services, and to respect their rights to information and decision-making. Develop new models of care—including psychosocial and mental health support and counselling about sexuality and gender relations—with peer outreach and support systems that are shaped and led by young women themselves.

## Adopt comprehensive, multisectoral approaches that respond to young women's realities

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "Develop gendersensitive multisectoral programmes and strategies to end social subordination of women and girls and to ensure their social and economic empowerment and equality."

#### Beijing Platform for Action, para. 108 (e)

Programmes and interventions that span different sectors and aspects of the lives of young women can have a big impact on their health, well-being and personal development.

Eliminating school fees, for example, has been shown to improve school attendance and completion rates (105). As studies also show, education is associated with reduced HIV infection among young women (106). When Botswana extended mandatory secondary education, for instance, it found that each additional year of schooling after Year 9 was associated with a 12% reduction in girls' risks of acquiring HIV (107).

The impact of more holistic responses can be seen in the PEPFAR DREAMS partnership, which is active across 15 countries, primarily in sub-Saharan Africa, providing prevention interventions that address the multiple causes of vulnerability to HIV among young women.<sup>7</sup> In 2019, PEPFAR reported a 25% or greater reduction in new HIV cases among adolescent girls and young women in most of the areas where the partnership was being implemented within the 10 original DREAMS countries (*108*). The economic empowerment of women and girls, such as via cash transfers, has been shown to improve their health, well-being and nutrition status, and it can reduce unsafe transactional sex and lower their chances of acquiring HIV (83, 108-111). In Eswatini, an intervention linking health, education and economic empowerment interventions for adolescent girls and young women reported both a 25% reduction in their risk of acquiring HIV and fewer teen pregnancies, and it enabled pregnant girls to return to school (111).

**BOTTOM LINE:** Invest in multisectoral approaches and interventions in areas with high prevalence that address the multifaceted rights and needs of adolescent girls and young women so they are empowered—including to prevent HIV.

## END VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND GIRLS

THE BEIJING PROMISE: Governments would "[c]ondemn violence against women and refrain from invoking any custom, tradition or religious consideration to avoid their obligations with respect to its elimination"; "[e]nact and/or reinforce penal, civil, labour and administrative sanctions in domestic legislation to punish and redress the wrongs done to women and girls who are subjected to any form of violence, whether in the home, the workplace, the community or society"; and " [p]rovide women who are subjected to violence with access to the mechanisms of justice."

Beijing Platform for Action, para. 124 (a, c, h)

Among the 12 critical areas of concern adopted in Beijing, violence against women and girls is one of the most widespread human rights violations in the world. Violence against women is deeply rooted in gender discrimination and is used to exert male control over women.

Numerous government commitments to end violence against women and girls have been made over the years, yet hundreds of millions of women and girls continue to be subjected to abuse and violence, at grievous cost to them and their families, communities and societies.

HIV and violence against women and girls are interlinked in women's lives (112, 113). Intimate partner violence remains very common around the world (Figure 13) and has been found to increase the risks

<sup>7</sup> Botswana, Côte d'Ivoire, Eswatini, Haiti, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Rwanda, South Africa, the United Republic of Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe. The DREAMS (Determined, Resilient, Empowered, AIDS-free, Mentored and Safe) package combines biomedical, behavioural and structural interventions.

of women acquiring HIV by 50% in areas with high HIV prevalence (112). Men who are perpetrators of violence against women tend to be at higher risk of HIV themselves, and they use condoms less frequently, which increases the risk of HIV transmission (114). Abuse during pregnancy makes it less likely that women will seek HIV testing or services to prevent vertical HIV transmission to newborns (115).

Being HIV-positive is a trigger for violence: women living with HIV frequently report experiences of violence or fear of violence, including from intimate partners and family members (36). For many, the violence starts or increases after being diagnosed with HIV (116). Women living with HIV are especially susceptible to institutional violence, mistreatment and reproductive rights violations in health-care settings, including forced sterilization and forced abortion (117).

Violence and the fear of violence block access to HIV services, making it especially challenging for women to decide whether they will have sex (and with whom), or to negotiate safer sex (*36, 118*). Violence (or the potential for it) also discourages many women living with HIV from disclosing their HIV status to partners, families and health providers, and it makes it more difficult for women and girls to stay on HIV treatment (*37, 119*).

Women belonging to key populations, such as sex workers, are especially vulnerable to violence (Figure 14). According to one estimate, 45–75% of adult female sex workers are assaulted or abused at least once in their lifetime (120). Repressive policing practices increase the risk of physical or sexual violence among sex workers threefold and increase their risk of contracting HIV or other STIs twofold (121). Women who inject drugs also report high rates of sexual violence, including at the hands of law enforcement officials (122, 123).

Gender-based violence is also targeted at people on the basis of their sexual orientation, gender identity or expression. For example, transgender people are at substantial risk of violence across the world. In a study in eight sub-Saharan African countries, 33% of transgender women said they had been physically attacked at some point, 28% had been raped and 27% said they were too afraid to use health-care services (124).

Women belonging to other marginalized communities are also highly vulnerable, including women belonging to ethnic and other minorities (Box 3) (85). For example, an estimated 14 million refugees and displaced women and girls were targets of sexual violence in 2019 (125). Women and girls living with disabilities and mental health conditions are especially susceptible to physical and sexual violence and other forms of abuse, including by caretakers and in their communities (126, 127). Violence against women itself is a cause of mental health problems (128, 129).

Violence against women and girls has received greater policy attention in recent decades. For instance, 86 of 100 reporting countries stated in 2019 that they had a national strategy that addresses gender-based violence and includes HIV dimensions. In practice, though, violence against women and girls remains a blind spot in the HIV response.

**BOTTOM LINE:** Take intensified action to prevent and respond to violence against women and girls, building on the body of evidence of what works (*85, 113*). Make full use of all entry points and opportunities in HIV programmes to contribute to these efforts, including by integrating supports for survivors in HIV-related services and paying particular attention to women and girls at risk of or living with HIV, including those from key populations. Invest in national implementation scale-up and community-level good practices that shift underlying gender norms and unequal power dynamics, including programmes that are led by women, and strengthen complaint and redress mechanisms for rights violations.<sup>8</sup>

### Ending violence against adolescent girls

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "Due to such factors as their youth, social pressures, lack of protective laws, or failure to enforce laws, girls are more vulnerable to all kinds of violence." Governments and partners would "organize and fund . . . educational and training programmes in order to sensitize girls and boys and women and men to the personal and social detrimental effects of violence in the family, community and society"; and "teach them how to communicate without violence".

Beijing Platform for Action, paras. 125 (g) and 269

Adolescent girls experience very high rates of genderbased and sexual violence in many countries around the world. In about half of all countries with agedisaggregated data available, a greater percentage of

<sup>8</sup> See the Social norms change at scale series, including CUSP's collective insights and the accompanying Insights from SASA!, Insights from IMAGE, Insights from GREAT and Insights from Stepping Stones.

Figure 13 Intimate partner violence against women and adolescent girls is widespread

Percentage of women and girls (aged 15 to 49 years) who exerienced physical and/or sexual violence by an intimate partner in the past 12 months, by age, countries with available data, 2013–2018



\* Data for Albania refer to the percentage of married women who had experienced physical violence often or sometimes by their husband in the past 12 months.

100

Source: Population-based surveys, 2013–2018.


### Figure 14 Violence against female sex workers is common

Percentage of female sex workers experiencing physical and sexual violence, selected countries, 2014–2018

Source: Literature review by UNAIDS and the Key Populations Program of the Center for Public Health and Human Rights, Johns Hopkins University. For a full list of sources, please see references in Annex.

adolescent girls (aged 15 to 19 years) had experienced intimate partner violence in the past 12 months compared to adult women overall (41).

Their experiences of violence start early in life. For example, one in four women aged 18 to 24 years reported having experienced sexual violence during childhood in Rwanda (24%) and Nigeria (25%), while one in three women reported having experienced sexual violence during childhood in Uganda (35%). Many of them also reported that their first sexual experience was unwanted or forced (131–133). Overall, many young women have experienced sexual violence and abuse during childhood, but few report sexual abuse to the authorities and support services are scarce in most countries (131–134).

Sexual violence in childhood and adolescence can do lifelong harm. For instance, girl survivors of abuse are more likely to be abused again and to engage in sexual and other risk-taking, while boys who were abused or who witnessed violence are more likely to become perpetrators themselves (85, 135, 136). Violence against girls and boys can lead to depression and suicidal thoughts, and it can increase their risk of acquiring HIV (137).

Girls and boys also face violence in schools, but girls are more likely to be targets of sexual and genderbased violence, including from school staff and peers (137, 138). Children and adolescents who are perceived to be gender-diverse are especially at risk of sexual violence and bullying (139, 140).

The current implementation of interventions is not effective enough: a recent study found that less than half of gender-based violence interventions for young people living with HIV or affected by the epidemic in low- and middle-income countries actually reduced gender-based violence (141). In southern Africa, similar findings show that interventions addressing HIV and gender-based violence are failing to achieve

## Box 3 New insights: violence against women living with HIV in Latin America

A new landmark study is casting light on the violence experienced by women living with HIV in Latin America. It was carried out in 2019 in seven countries (Colombia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Honduras, Paraguay, Peru and the Plurinational State of Bolivia) and included indigenous, Afrodescendant and other groups of marginalized women.

- Levels of violence by intimate partners are high. More than one in three women reported experiencing emotional violence in the previous year, and 75% of the women reported that their partners exhibited controlling behaviours, including controlling their money (30%). The risk of violence tended to be highest for indigenous women and young women. In the Plurinational State of Bolivia, 73% of women reported physical and/or sexual violence at the hands of an intimate partner in their lifetime.
- Violence during childhood and forced first sexual experiences are common. Between 26% (Honduras) and 59% (Plurinational State of Bolivia) of women reported having been sexually abused before their 15th birthday.
- Violence or coercion occurs frequently in health-care settings. More than 20% of women said they
  had felt coerced to undergo sterilization and/or an abortion, and 48% said they had been denied
  cervical cancer or breast cancer services due to their HIV status.
- Institutional violence. An average of 13% of women were forced to move or were unable to rent housing because of their HIV status, and between 4% (Guatemala and Honduras) and 18% (Plurinational State of Bolivia) of women said they had lost their jobs or other income sources for the same reason.
- Health and well-being. One in four women reported having suicidal thoughts in the previous month. Among women who had been pregnant and had been assaulted during pregnancy, up to 28% (Plurinational State of Bolivia) had undergone a miscarriage as a result of the violence.
- Women's coping strategies. Most women survivors of violence have never gone to formal services or people in positions of authority for help. Only 15% sought help from the police, 9% from the prosecutor's office, 5% from child protection agencies and 5% from health services. Less than half of survivors said that a health-care provider had ever asked them about their experiences of violence (130).

comparable results for young women as they have for adult women (142). Attitudes about gender-based violence also need to change: surveys indicate that many young women and men still justify violence against women by intimate partners (Figure 15).

Political and community leaders, educational systems, service providers and parents all have major obligations to protect children and adolescents from violence. A basic step is to provide quality comprehensive sexuality education that promotes zero tolerance for gender-based violence and equips students with skills around gender relations, safe dating, sexual consent and protecting their peers (143). **BOTTOM LINE:** Take urgent action to prevent violence against children and adolescents and to support survivors of violence, drawing on the knowledge of what works (*134, 138, 140, 143–145*). Start prevention efforts early to enable girls and boys to question and challenge prevailing gender norms that justify violence against women. Engage adolescent girls and boys directly in the search for effective interventions, and ensure those approaches take account of the broader gender, social and economic dynamics that shape their lives (*143-145*).

## Figure 15

### Many young women and men justify violence against women

Percentage of young women and men aged 15 to 24 years who agree that a husband is justified in hitting or beating his wife for at least one specific reason, countries with available data, 2013–2018



Source: Demographic and Health Surveys, 2013–2018.

Note: The dotted lines represent the median values across all countries with available data. Reasons included as justifications for a husband hitting or beating his wife are burns food, argues with her husband, goes out without telling her husband, neglects the children and refuses to have sex with her husband.

# Transform gender norms and harmful masculinities

THE BEIJING PROMISE: "Equal relationships between women and men in matters of sexual relations and reproduction, including full respect for the integrity of the person, require mutual respect, consent and shared responsibility for sexual behavior and its consequences." Programmes should "enable men to assume their responsibilities to prevent HIV/AIDS" and "educate men regarding the importance of women's health and well-being, placing special focus on . . . the elimination of harmful attitudes and practices, including violence against women, sexual exploitation [and] sexual abuse."

Beijing Platform for Action, paras. 96, 107 (a) and 108 (e)

Involving men and boys in HIV prevention and sexual and reproductive health matters has gained increasing attention over the past decades. However, a recent global systematic review of sexual and reproductive health interventions involving men and boys found that only 8% of them included components to transform gender relations and unequal power dynamics (145), with most of the latter activities focused on HIV and addressing violence against women.

Harmful gender norms have to be tackled early; they are instilled in childhood and subsequently reinforced (146). According to one recent study across different cultures, boys aged 10 to 14 years are already more likely to endorse harmful gender norms than their girl peers (147).

Harmful masculinities undermine the health and wellbeing of both men and women (148). Social norms that associate so-called manhood with being tough, aggressive and controlling contribute to risk-taking behaviours such as alcohol and drug abuse and multiple sexual partners. They keep men from seeking HIV and other health services, which further increases both women's and men's risks of acquiring HIV (149, 150). Efforts are needed to facilitate better access to services for men and to improve their own healthseeking behaviours, which in turn can reduce risks of HIV transmission to women and girls.

To achieve gender-equitable attitudes and behaviours, men and boys have to be engaged to respect women's sexual and reproductive health and rights and decisionmaking, to be agents of change for gender equality, and to refrain from and oppose gender-based violence. For example, as Programme H in Brazil and India has shown, well-designed interventions that promote changes in social norms do bring results (151). In Kampala, Uganda, a five-year community mobilization activity worked with community members, leaders and institutions to question imbalances in power between men and women. The interventions helped change attitudes and behaviours, with cases of intimate partner violence decreasing by nearly 50% (152).

**BOTTOM LINE:** Revisit policies and programmes involving men and boys to leverage missed opportunities for undoing harmful masculinities, advancing respect for women's rights and adopting gender-transformative approaches. Meet men and boys for HIV-related outreach and services in spaces where they gather and are comfortable. Apply a gender lens that responds to masculine perspectives to reach them more effectively with the care and supports they need.


# PATHS TO GENDER EQUALITY AND EQUITY

The HIV response must protect the human rights of women and adolescent girls in all their diversity. It should promote their empowerment and advance gender equality and equity for all. Unless the underlying social norms and inequalities that fuel the HIV epidemic among women and adolescent girls are confronted, we will not succeed in ending the AIDS epidemic by the 2030 deadline for achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

The commitments set in Beijing 25 years ago remain as crucial as ever and serve as signposts for the paths towards transformation. Decades of hard work and creative efforts point to effective approaches and interventions. Those efforts must be scaled up, with political will and funding from national governments and donors—and with the leadership and expertise of women.

## 1. The next generation of the HIV response must make gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls a core priority.

Gender-transformative interventions reduce gender inequities and shift power dynamics. Grounded in feminist principles, these actions and investments are meant to confront and transform the values, practices and institutions that perpetuate gender stereotypes, discrimination and violence against women and girls. HIV policies and programmes should build on approaches that have been proven to foster gender equality.

# 2. Laws and policies must pave the way for gender equality and equity.

Legal reforms are needed to uphold the equal rights of all women and girls and remove any legislative basis for discrimination against them by fulfilling the unkept promises of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action. They must include measures to end the stigma and discrimination, violence and criminalization that are directed at women and girls. Women must have recourse to justice when their rights are violated, and accountability mechanisms must be strengthened so that laws are enforced and policies are implemented. Renewed attention should be paid to legal and rights literacy and awareness-raising, with special attention to women and girls most affected by social exclusion and injustice.

## 3. Greater investments in the education and economic empowerment of women and girls are needed to end the HIV epidemic.

In line with the Beijing commitments, multisectoral strategies for the social and economic empowerment of women and girls should be implemented. Women and girls must have control over the decisions that affect their health, bodies and lives—and access to quality HIV prevention, testing and treatment services that work for them—if the world is to end the AIDS epidemic. Education, at least to the end of secondary school, is imperative.

All barriers to the education of girls should be removed, including user fees and discriminatory policies and practices. Education systems must provide inclusive environments, with special attention given to pregnant girls, young mothers, girls living with HIV or disabilities, and children who are gender-diverse. Also vital is comprehensive, quality sexuality education for all young people, in school and out of school, in order to build knowledge, promote equitable gender norms, and foster respect for equal rights and shared responsibilities.

The economic autonomy of women is crucial in its own right and an important component of the HIV response. Gender inequalities persist in the world of work and are underpinned by the burdens of unpaid care and domestic work that are overwhelmingly shouldered by women and girls. Laws and policies that improve access to educational and economic opportunities for women and girls are associated with improved health outcomes (153). Increased investments are needed to realize the economic rights of women and to improve their livelihoods, especially for those living in poverty and experiencing stigmatization and marginalization.

## 4. Gender-responsive policies and greater investment for gender equality should be the norm.

Beijing promised "to create and improve gendersensitive policies and programmes on HIV/AIDS" and called for "political commitment to make available human and financial resources for the empowerment of women" (154). In 2019, 57 of the 97 countries with a national strategy or policy guiding their AIDS responses reported that the policy included interventions for achieving greater gender equality. Only 37 countries had a dedicated budget for those activities.

In terms of international donor support, overseas development assistance for gender equality peaked in 2016–2017, with bilateral donors contributing an average of US\$ 44.8 billion per year. However, only 4% of that support went to programmes where gender equality was the main objective, and 62% of the aid was "gender blind" (155).9 Investments in gender equality, women's organizations and feminist movements need to increase. In particular, there is a major lack of funding for feminist organizations: by one estimate, 99% of global investment in interventions addressing gender equality is not reaching feminist and women's rights organizations (156). Furthermore, increased funding should be accompanied by more effective use of existing resources, ensuring gendertransformative approaches are integrated into policies and programmes.

# 5. Meaningful participation of women and girls in decision-making is a must.

Beijing promised to "[e]nsure the involvement of women, especially those infected with HIV/AIDS . . . or affected by the HIV/AIDS pandemic, in all decisionmaking relating to the development, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of policies and programmes on HIV/AIDS" (154). The leadership and engagement of women in their full diversity is crucial at all levels of the HIV response. Many countries have increasingly involved women and young people in developing HIV policies, guidelines or strategies, but it is not clear to what extent their perspectives are actually taken into account when decisions are made (157). As well, data reported to UNAIDS show that not all countries are respecting the right of the most-affected communities to participate in national decision-making about HIV.

# 6. Support for leadership in the HIV response by women and young people needs to increase.

In the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, countries pledged to "facilitate the development of community strategies that will protect women of all ages from HIV . . . and mobilize all parts of the community in response to the HIV/AIDS pandemic to exert pressure on all responsible authorities to respond in a timely, effective, sustainable and gendersensitive manner" (154).This is very difficult when women- and youth-led organizations operate in hostile environments, receive unpredictable and often scant funding, and rely on overburdened staff.

Political, institutional and financial support is needed to boost the impact of those organizations and popularize and sustain the solutions they are spearheading. Emphasis should be placed on support for feministinformed approaches to achieve gender equality and equity in the context of the HIV response. Investing in and meaningfully involving women- and youth-led organizations and movements will open new paths for ending the AIDS epidemic and building more equitable societies.

For decades, women's organizations have been at the forefront of the HIV response, mobilizing communities to demand accountability, social justice for people living with HIV, and an inclusive, rights-based agenda. Their work and creativity have been vital to the progress made against the epidemic and for upholding the rights of women and girls. These organizations, and the communities they serve, must remain at the heart of the HIV response. If that happens and the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action commitments are realized, a world in which younger generations can lead lives free of HIV and are fully enabled to thrive will be within reach.

<sup>9</sup> The OECD Development Assistance Committee is an international forum of the largest providers of aid. In their reporting to the Development Assistance Committee Creditor Reporting System, donors are requested to indicate for each activity whether or not it has gender equality as one of its policy objectives. To qualify as "gender equality focussed," an activity must explicitly promote gender equality and women's empowerment (see https://www.oecd.org/dac/stats/aidinsupportofgenderequalityandwomensempowerment.htm).

# REFERENCES

- Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS: on the Fast Track to Accelerating the Fight against HIV and the Ending the AIDS Epidemic. In: Seventieth session of the United Nations General Assembly, New York, 22 June 2016 (A/RES/70/266; https://www.unaids.org/en/ resources/documents/2016/2016-political-declaration-HIV-AIDS).
- Promoting a rights-based approach to migration, health and HIV and AIDS: a framework for action. Geneva: International Labour Office; 2017 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---gender/documents/publication/wcms\_605763.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- De Jesus M, Carrete C, Maine C, Nalls P. Attitudes, perceptions, and behaviors toward HIV testing among African American and East African immigrant women in Washington, D.C.: implications for targeted HIV testing promotion and communication strategies. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91(8):569-75.
- 4. Cabieses B, Bernales M, van der Laat C. Health for all migrants in Latin America and the Caribbean. Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(5):402.
- 5. Migration and health: key issues. Migrant health in the European Region. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2016.
- Exploitation and abuse of international migrants, particularly those in an irregular situation: a human rights approach. Thematic paper. Vienna: Global Migration Group; 2013 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/2013/2013\_GMG\_Thematic\_ Paper.pdf, accessed 1 February 2020).
- 7. Global health estimates 2016: deaths by cause, age, sex, by country and by region, 2000–2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 8. Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free. A Super Fast-Track Framework for Ending AIDS among Children, Adolescents and Young Women by 2020. In: free.unaids.org [Internet] (https://free.unaids.org/, accessed 23 February 2020).
- WHO validation for the elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and/or syphilis. In: World Health Organization: Sexual and Reproductive Health [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/congenitalsyphilis/WHO-validation-EMTCT/en/, accessed 5 January 2020).
- Transactional sex and HIV risk: from analysis to action. Geneva: UNAIDS and STRIVE; 2018 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/ files/media\_asset/transactional-sex-and-hiv-risk\_en.pdf, accessed 7 February 2020).
- 11. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly: further actions and initiatives to implement the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action. In: Twenty-third special session of the United Nations General Assembly, New York, 16 November 2000 (A/Res/S-23/3; https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/followup/ress233e.pdf).
- McKinsey Global Institute. The power of parity: how advancing women's equality can add \$12 trillion to global growth. McKinsey & Company; 2015 (https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Featured%20Insights/Employment%20and%20Growth/How%20 advancing%20womens%20equality%20can%20add%2012%20trillion%20to%20global%20growth/MGI%20Power%20of%20parity\_ Full%20report\_September%202015.ashx, accessed 7 February 2020).
- Tavares P, Wodon Q. Global and regional trends in women's legal protection against domestic violence and sexual harassment. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2017 (http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/679221517425064052/EndingViolenceAgainstWomenandGir Is-GBVLaws-Feb2018.pdf, accessed 18 February 2020).
- 14. Women, Business and the Law [online database]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2020 (https://wbl.worldbank.org/, accessed 1 February 2020).
- 15. Women, Business and the Law 2018 [online database]. In: Women, Business and the Law [website]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2018 (https://wbl.worldbank.org/en/reports, accessed 10 January 2020).
- 16. Sandstrom A, Theodorou AE. Many countries allow child marriage. Washington (DC): Pew Research Center, 2016 (https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/09/12/many-countries-allow-child-marriage/, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 17. Child marriage [database]. In: data.unicef.org [website]. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (https://data.unicef.org/topic/ child-protection/child-marriage/, accessed 23 February 2020).
- International Labour Conference. Convention 190. Convention concerning the elimination of violence and harassment in the world of work Geneva, 21 June 2019 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_norm/---relconf/documents/meetingdocument/ wcms\_711570.pdf, accessed 31 January 2020).
- 19. Reeves A, Steele S, Stuckler D, McKee M, Amato-Gauci A, Semenza J. National sex work policy and HIV prevalence among sex workers: an ecological regression analysis of 27 European countries. Lancet HIV. 2017:4(3);e134-e140.
- 20. DeBeck K, Cheng T, Montaner JS, Beyrer C, Elliott R, Sherman S et al. HIV and the criminalization of drug use among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet HIV. 2017;4:e357-74.
- 21. Strathdee SA, Beletsky B, Kerr T. HIV, drugs and the legal environment. Int J Drug Pol. 2015;26(1):SS27-S32.2.
- 22. Women who use drugs, harm reduction and HIV. Geneva: Global Coalition on Women and AIDS; 2011 (https://www.aidsdatahub. org/sites/default/files/publication/women\_drugs\_HIV\_harm\_reduction\_2013.pdf, accessed 17 February 2020).
- 10 reasons why criminalization of HIV exposure or transmission harms women. ATHENA Network; 2009 (https://www. hivlawandpolicy.org/sites/default/files/Why%20Criminalization%20Harms%20Women-Athena2009.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 24. Beyrer C, Crago A, Bekker L, Butler J, Shannon K, Kerrigan D et al. An action agenda for HIV and sex workers. Lancet. 2014;385(9964):P287-301.

- 25. Jolley E, Rhodes T, Platt T, Hope V, Latypov A, Donoghoe M et al. HIV among people who inject drugs in central and eastern Europe and central Asia: a systematic review with implications for policy. BMJ Open. 2012;2:e001465.
- Reddon H, Marshall BDL, Milloy MJ. Elimination of HIV transmission through novel and established prevention strategies among people who inject drugs. Lancet HIV. 2019;6:e128-36.
- 27. Delany-Moretlwe S, Cowan FM, Busza J, Bolton-Moore C, Kelley K, Fairlie L. Providing comprehensive health services for young key populations: needs, barriers and gaps. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18(2 Suppl 1):19833.
- Eba PM, Lim H. Reviewing independent access to HIV testing, counselling and treatment for adolescents in HIV-specific laws in sub-Saharan Africa: implications for the HIV response. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(1):21456.
- 29. Taggart T, Bond KT, Ritchwood TD, Smith JC. Getting youth PrEPared: adolescent consent laws and implications for the availability of PrEP among youth in countries outside of the United States. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22(7):e253263.
- McKinnon B, Vandermorris A. National age-of-consent laws and adolescent HIV testing in sub-Saharan Africa: a propensity-score matched study. Bull World Health Organ. 2018;97(1):42-50.
- Committee on the Rights of the Child. General comment No. 20 on the implementation of the rights of the child during adolescence. New York, 6 December 2016 (158 CRC/C/GC/20; https://www.refworld.org/docid/589dad3d4.html, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 32. WHO recommendations on adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 33. Demands for quality reproductive and maternal healthcare from women and girls. What Women Want; 2019 (https://www. whiteribbonalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/What-Women-Want\_Global-Results.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- Kehler J, Massawe D. We have our rights! Women, violence and diversity. AIDS Legal Network; 2017 (http://aln.org.za/wp-content/ uploads/2018/02/ALNREACTReportElectronic.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 35. #WhatWomenWant: HIV prevention that works for adolescent girls and young women. Athena Initiative; 2017 (http:// www.athenanetwork.org/assets/files/WhatWomenWant/ATHENA%20WhatWomenWant\_AGYW%20powering%20HIV%20 prevention\_2017.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 36. Orza L, Welbourn A, Bewley S, Crone ET, Vazquez M; Salamander Trust. Building a safe house on firm ground: key findings from a global values and preferences survey regarding the sexual and reproductive health and human rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- AVAC, Athena Network, Salamander Trust. Key barriers to women's access to HIV treatment: a global review. New York: United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women; 2017 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/ attachments/sections/library/publications/2017/key-barriers-to-womens-access-to-hiv-treatment-a-global-review-en. pdf?la=en&vs=3431, accessed 5 February 2020).
- Breaking ground: treaty monitoring bodies on reproductive rights. New York: Center for Reproductive Rights; 2019 (https:// reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/Breaking-Ground-2020.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 39. People Living with Stigma Index surveys, 2011–2016.
- WHO & UNAIDS. WHO, UNAIDS statement on HIV testing services: new opportunities and ongoing challenges. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2017 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/2017\_WHO-UNAIDS\_statement\_HIV-testing-services\_en.pdf, accessed 6 February 2020).
- 41. Demographic and Health Surveys, 2013-2018.
- 42. Kulisewa K, Stockton M, Hosseinipour MC, Gaynes BN, Mphonda S, Udedi MM et al. The role of depression screening and treatment in achieving the UNAIDS 90–90–90 goals in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Behav. 2019;23:S153-S161.
- 43. Njuguna B, Kiplagat J, Bloomfield GS, Pastakia SD, Vedanthan RV, Koethe JR. Prevalence, risk factors, and pathophysiology of dysglycemia among people living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa. J Diabetes Res. 2018;2018:6916497.
- 44. Schouten J, Wit FW, Stolte IG, Kootstra NA, van der Valk M, Geerlings SE et al. Cross-sectional comparison of the prevalence of age-associated comorbidities and their risk factors between HIV-infected and uninfected individuals: the AGEhIV cohort study. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;15(12):1787-97.
- 45. Althoff K, McGinnis KA, Wyatt CM, Freiberg MS, Gilbert C, Oursler KK et al. Comparison of risk and age at diagnosis of myocardial infarction, end-stage renal disease, and non-AIDS-defining cancer in HIV-infected versus uninfected adults. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60(4):627-3.
- 46. Evidence for Contraceptive Options and HIV Outcomes (ECHO) Trial Consortium. HIV incidence among women using intramuscular depot medroxyprogesterone acetate, a copper intrauterine device, or a levonorgestrel implant for contraception: a randomised, multicentre, open-label trial. The Lancet. 2019;394(10195):303-13.
- 47. Ippoliti NB, Nanda G, Wilcher R. Meeting the reproductive health needs of female key populations affected by HIV in low- and middle-income countries: a review of the evidence. Stud Fam Plann. 2017;48(2):121-51.
- 48. Costing the three transformative results. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2019 (https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/ pub-pdf/Transformative\_results\_journal\_23-online.pdf, accessed 17 February 2020).
- 49. Strengthening condom programmes & markets in Africa: enhancing public health impact through an established multi-purpose technology. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2018 (https://hivpreventioncoalition.unaids.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/GPC-brief-oncondoms-Nov-2018.pdf).
- Chandra-Mouli V, Ferguson BJ, Plesons M, Paul M, Chalasani S, Amin A et al. The political, research, programmatic, and social responses to adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights in the 25 years since the International Conference on Population and Development. J Adolesc Health. 2019;65(6s):S16-S40.
- Girlhood, not motherhood. Preventing adolescent pregnancy. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2015 (https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/Girlhood\_not\_motherhood\_final\_web.pdf, accessed 6 February 2020).
- Early Childbearing. In: data.unicef.org [Internet]. October 2019. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (https://data.unicef.org/ topic/child-health/adolescent-health/, accessed 7 January 2020).

- Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2017: estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/Maternal\_ mortality\_report.pdf, accessed 2 February 2020).
- 54. Graham W, Woodd S, Byass P, Filippi V, Gon G, Virgo S et al. Diversity and divergence: the dynamic burden of poor maternal health. The Lancet. 2016 Oct 29;388(10056):2164-75.
- 55. Flateau C, Le Loup G, Pialoux G. Consequences of HIV infection on malaria and therapeutic implications: a systematic review. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011;11(7):541-56.
- 56. González R, Sevene E, Jagoe G, Slutsker L, Menéndez C. A public health paradox: the women most vulnerable to malaria are the least protected. PLoS Med. 2016;13(5):e1002014.
- 57. Rowley J, Hoorn S, Korenromp E, Low N, Unemo M, Abu-Raddad L et al. Chlamydia, gonorrhoea, trichomoniasis and syphilis: global prevalence and incidence estimates, 2016. Bull World Health Organ. 2019;97(8):548-62.
- 58. Report on global sexually transmitted infection surveillance, 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 59. Houlihan CF, Larke NL, Watson-Jones D, Smith-Mccune KK, Shiboski S, Gravitt PE et al. Human papillomavirus infection and increased risk of HIV acquisition. A systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2012;26(17):2211-22.
- 60. de Martel C, Plummer M, Vignat J, Franceschi S. Worldwide burden of cancer attributable to HPV by site, country and HPV type. Int J Cancer. 2017;141(4):664-70.
- 61. IARC/WHO. GLOBOCAN 2018: estimated cancer incidence, mortality and prevalence worldwide in 2018. Cervical cancer fact sheet (https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/23-Cervix-Uteri-fact-sheet.pdf).
- 62. Draft: global strategy towards the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/documents/cervical-cancer-elimination-draft-strategy.pdf).
- 63. Rohner E, Bütikofer L, Schmidlin K, Sengayi M, Maskew M, Giddy J et al. Cervical cancer risk in women living with HIV across four continents: a multicohort study. Int J Cancer. 2020;146(3):601-9.
- 64. Comprehensive cervical cancer control: a guide to essential practice. 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 65. Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals. In: who.int [Internet]. 20 January 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; c2020 (https://www.who.int/immunization/monitoring\_surveillance/data/en/, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 66. Sin NL, DiMatteo MR. Depression treatment enhances adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a meta-analysis. Ann Behav Med. 2014;47:259-69.
- 67. Remien RH, Stirratt MJ, Nguyen N, Robbins RN, Pala AN, Mellins CA. Mental health and HIV/AIDS: the need for an integrated response. AIDS. 2019;33(9):1411-20.
- 68. Hubber Z, Mills EJ, Nachega JB, Vreeman R, Freitas M, Bock P et al. Patient-reported barriers to adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2016;13:e1002183.
- 69. Nachega JB, Uthman OA, Anderson J, Peltzer K, Wampold S, Cotton MF et al. Adherence to antiretroviral therapy during and after pregnancy in low-income, middle-income, and high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2012;26(16):2039-52.
- Zhu QY, Huang DS, Lv JD, Guan P, Bai XH. Prevalence of perinatal depression among HIV-positive women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Psychiatry. 2019;19(1):330.
- 71. PrEPWatch.org [database]. New York (NY): AVAC; c2019 (https://www.prepwatch.org/, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 72. Celum CL, Delany-Moretlwe S, Baeten JM, van der Straten A, Hosek S, Bukusi EA et al. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis for adolescent girls and young women in Africa: from efficacy trials to delivery. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22 Suppl 4:e25298.
- Meyers L, Bekker L-G, Aunger R, van der Straten A, Morton J, McConnell M et al. A behaviour-centered design approach to creating demand for oral PrEP among young women in Masiphumelele, South Africa. International AIDS Conference, Amsterdam, 23–27 July 2018.
- 74. Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Brown ER, Schwartz K, Soto-Torres LE, Govender V et al. Use of a vaginal ring containing Dapivirine for HIV-1 prevention in women. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(22):2121-32.
- 75. Weld ED, Flexner C. Long-acting implants to treat and prevent HIV infection. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2020;15(1):33-41.
- Developing ARV-based microbicide and microbicide/contraceptive vaginal rings. In: Population Council [website]. The Population Council Inc; c2020 (https://www.popcouncil.org/research/developing-arv-based-microbicide-and-microbicide-contraceptive-vaginalring, accessed 21 February 2020).
- 77. Derby N, Aravantinou M, Kenney J, Ugaonkar SR, Wesenberg A, Wilk J et al. An intravaginal ring that releases three antiviral agents and a contraceptive blocks SHIV-RT infection, reduces HSV-2 shedding, and suppresses hormonal cycling in rhesus macaques. Drug Deliv Tranl Res. 2017;7(6):840-58.
- 78. Political Declaration of the High-Level Meeting on Universal Health Coverage. In: Seventy-fourth session of the United Nations General Assembly, New York, 18 December 2019 (A/RES/74/2; https://undocs.org/en/A/RES/74/2).
- Sundwell J. Prioritizing essential packages of health in six countries in sub-Saharan Africa: implications and lessons for SRHR. Stockholm: Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency; 2019 (https://www.who.int/pmnch/media/news/2019/WHO\_ One\_PMNCH\_report.pdf?ua=1, accessed 28 January 2020).
- Sexual and reproductive health and rights: an essential element of universal health coverage: background document for the Nairobi Summit on ICPD25 – accelerating the promise. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2019 (https://www.unfpa.org/featuredpublication/sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-rights-essential-element-universal-health, accessed 23 February 2020).
- HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women: putting HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women on the Fast-Track and engaging men and boys. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2016 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/ UNAIDS\_HIV\_prevention\_among\_adolescent\_girls\_and\_young\_women.pdf, accessed 7 February 2020).
- Global HIV Prevention Coalition. Implementation of the HIV Prevention 2020 Road Map. Third progress report. Geneva: UNAIDS; October 2019 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/22112019\_UNAIDS\_PCB45\_CRP1\_EN.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).

- Wamoyi J, Stobeanau K, Bobrova N, Abramsky T, Watts C. Transactional sex and risk for HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19(1):20992.
- UNESCO strategy on education for health and well-being: contributing to the Sustainable Development Goals. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2016 (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000246453).
- 85. Respect women: preventing violence against women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/312261/WHO-RHR-18.19-eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 5 February 2020).
- De Neve JW, Fink G, Subramanian SV, Moyo S, Bor J. Length of secondary schooling and risk of HIV infection in Botswana: evidence from a natural experiment. Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3(8):e470-e477.
- 87. Behman JA. The effect of increased primary schooling on adult women's HIV status in Malawi and Uganda: universal primary education as a natural experiment. Soc Sci Med. 2015 Feb;127:108-15.
- Pettifor AE, Levandowski BA, MacPhail C, Padian NS, Cohen MS, Rees HV. Keep them in school: the importance of education as a protective factor against HIV infection among young South African women. Int J Epidemiol. 2008;37(6):1266-73.
- 89. A future stolen: young and out of school. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; September 2018 (https://data.unicef.org/ resources/a-future-stolen/, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 90. New methodology shows that 258 million children, adolescents and youth are out of school. Fact Sheet no. 26. UIS/2019/ED/FS/56. Montréal: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Institute for Statistics; September 2019 (http://uis. unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/new-methodology-shows-258-million-children-adolescents-and-youth-are-out-school.pdf).
- 91. Addressing the learning crisis: an urgent need to better finance education for the poorest children. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/media/63896/file/Addressing-the-learning-crisis-advocacy-brief-2020.pdf).
- 92. International technical guidance on sexuality education: an evidence-informed approach. Revised ed. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2018 (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/in/documentViewer.xhtml?v=2.1.196&id=p::us-marcdef\_0000260770&file=/in/rest/annotationSVC/DownloadWatermarkedAttachment/attach\_import\_d8d4de18-19d0-4a35-8eb2-ab5eaa5ca5d3%3F\_%3D260770eng.pdf&locale=en&multi=true&ark=/ark:/48223/pf0000260770/PDF/260770eng.pdf#%5B%7B%22num% 22%3A115%2C%22gen%22%3A0%7D%2C%7B%22name%22%3A%22XYZ%22%7D%2C0%2C842%2C0%5D, accessed 13 January 2020).
- 93. Haberland N. The case for addressing gender and power in sexuality and HIV education: a comprehensive review of evaluation studies. Int Perspectiv Sex Reprod Health. 2015;41(1):31-42.
- 94. Chandra-Mouli V, Vipul Patel S. Mapping the knowledge and understanding of menarche, menstrual hygiene and menstrual health among adolescent girls in low- and middle-income countries. Reprod Health. 2017;14(1):1-16.
- 95. Fonner VA, Armstrong KS, Kennedy CE, O'Reilly KR, Sweat MD. School-based sex education and HIV prevention in low- and middleincome countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e89692.
- 96. Panchaud C, Keogh SC, Stillman M, Awusabo-Asare K, Motta A, Sidze E et al. Towards comprehensive sexuality education: a comparative analysis of the policy environment surrounding school-based sexuality education in Ghana, Peru, Kenya and Guatemala. Sex Education. 2018;19(3):277-96.
- 97. Emerging evidence, lessons and practice in comprehensive sexuality education: a global review. Paris: United Nations Education, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2015 (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000235707, accessed 13 January 2020).
- 98. Dellar RC, Dlamini S, Karim QA. Adolescent girls and young women: key populations for epidemic control. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18(Suppl 1):19408.
- Woldesenbet S, Jackson D, Lombard C, Dinh TH, Puren A, Sherman G et al. Missed opportunities along the prevention of motherto-child transmission services cascade in South Africa: uptake, determinants, and attributable risk (the SAPMTCTE). PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0132425.
- 100. Fatti G, Shaikh N, Eley B, Jackson D, Grimwood A. Adolescent and young pregnant women at increased risk of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and poorer maternal and infant health outcomes: a cohort study at public facilities in the Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan district, Eastern Cape, South Africa. S Afr Med J. 2014;104(12):874-80.
- 101. Callahan T, Modi S, Swanson J, Ng'eno B, Broyles LN. Pregnant adolescents living with HIV: what we know, what we need to know, where we need to go. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(1):21858.
- 102. Musarandega R, Machekano R, Chideme M, Muchuchuti C, Mushavi A, Mahomva A et al. PMTCT service uptake among adolescents and adult women attending antenatal care in selected health facilities in Zimbabwe. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;75(2):148-55.
- 103. Adolescent friendly health services for adolescents living with HIV: from theory to practice. Technical brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019.
- 104. Cluver LD, Toska E, Orkin FM, Meinck F, Hodes R, Yukobovich AR et al. Achieving equity in HIV-treatment outcomes: can social protection improve adolescent ART-adherence in South Africa? AIDS CARE. 2016;28(S2):73-82.
- 105. Hardee K, Gay J, Croce-Galis M, Peltz A. Strengthening the enabling environment for women and girls: what is the evidence in social and structural approaches in the HIV response? J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17:18619.
- 106. Durevall D, Lindskog A, George G. Education and HIV incidence among young women in KwaZulu-Natal: an association but no evidence of a causal protective effect. PLoS One. 2019;14(3):e0213056.
- 107. De Neve J-W, Fink G, Subramanian SV, Moyo S, Bar J. Length of secondary schooling and risk of HIV infection in Botswana: evidence from a natural experiment. Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3(8):e470-e477.
- 108. PEPFAR latest global results. Washington (DC): United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief; 2019 (https://www.state.gov/ wp-content/uploads/2019/11/PEPFAR-Latest-Results\_WAD\_2019.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 109. Bastagli F, Hagen-Zanker J, Harman L, Barca V, Sturge G, Schmidt T et al. Cash transfers: what does the evidence say? A rigorous review of programme impact and the role of design and implementation features. London: Overseas Development Institute (ODI); 2016.
- 110. Owusu-Addo E, Cross R. The impact of conditional cash transfers on child health in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Int J Public Health. 2014;59(4):609-18.

- 111. Gorgens M, Mabuza K, de Walque D. Sitakhela Likusasa impact evaluation: results of a cluster randomized control trial (cRCT) of financial incentives for HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) in Eswatini. Tenth International AIDS
- 112. Society Conference, Mexico City, 21–24 July 2019. Abstract TUAC0205LB.
- 113. Durevall D, Lindskog A. Intimate partner violence and HIV in ten sub-Saharan African countries: what do the Demographic and Health Surveys tell us? Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3(1):e34-e43.
- 114. WHO, UNAIDS. 16 ideas for addressing violence against women in the context of the HIV epidemic. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 115. Fleming PJ, DiClemente RJ, Barrington C. Masculinity and HIV: dimensions of masculine norms that contribute to men's HIV-related sexual behaviors. AIDS Behav. 2016 Apr;20(4):788-98.
- 116. Hatcher AM, Woollett N, Pallitto CC, Mokoatle K, Stöckl H, MacPhail C et al. Bidirectional links between HIV and intimate partner violence in pregnancy: implications for prevention of mother-to-child transmission. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17(1):19233.
- 117. Orza L, Bewley S, Chung C, Crone ET, Nagadya H, Vazquez M et al. "Violence. Enough already": findings from a global participatory survey among women living with HIV. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18(Suppl 5):20285.
- 118. Šimonović D; United Nations Human Rights Council. A human rights-based approach to mistreatment and violence against women in reproductive health services with a focus on childbirth and obstetric violence: report of the Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women, its Causes and Consequences. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2019.
- 119. Leddy AM, Weiss E, Yam E, Pulerwitz J. Gender-based violence and engagement in biomedical HIV prevention, care and treatment: a scoping review. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):897.
- Mepham S, Zondi Z, Mbuyazi A, Mkhawanazi N, Newell ML. Challenges in PMTCT antiretroviral adherence in northern KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. AIDS Care. 2011:23(6);741-7.
- 121. Deering KN, Amin A, Shoveller J, Nesbitt A, Garcia-Moreno C, Duff P et al. A systematic review of the correlates of violence against sex workers. Am J Public Health. 2014;104:e42-e54.
- 122. Platt L, Grenfell P, Meiksin R, Elmes J, Sherman SG, Sanders T et al. Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. PLoS Med. 2018;15(12):e1002680.
- 123. Azim T, Bontell I, Strathdee SA. Women, drugs and HIV. Int J Drug Policy. 2015;26(1):s16-s21.
- 124. Gilbert L, Raj A, Hien D, Stockman J, Terlikbayeva A, Wyatt G. Targeting the SAVA (substance abuse, violence and AIDS) syndemic among women and girls: a global review of epidemiology and integrated interventions. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015;69(Suppl 2):S118-S127.
- 125. Poteat T, Ackerman B, Diouf D, Ceesay N, Mothopeng T, Odette KZ et al. HIV prevalence and behavioral and psychosocial factors among transgender women and cisgender men who have sex with men in 8 African countries: a cross-sectional analysis. PLos Med. 2017;14(11):e1002422.
- 126. Holly L, Stawski H. Safety first: time to deliver on commitments to women and girls in crisis. New York: International Rescue Committee; 2019 (https://www.rescue.org/sites/default/files/document/4263/ircgbvpolicyreportint2.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 127. Report of the Special Rapporteur against Violence against women, its causes and consequences. 3 August 2012 (A/67/227; http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/67/227).
- 128. Young persons with disabilities: global study on ending gender-based violence, and realising sexual and reproductive health rights. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2018 (https://www.unfpa.org/publications/young-persons-disabilities, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 129. Riecher-Rössler A, García-Moreno C. Violence against women and mental health. Basel: Karger; 2013.
- 130. Bacchus LJ, Ranganathan M, Watts C, Devries K. Recent intimate partner violence against women and health: a systematic review and analysis of cohort studies. BMJ Open. 2018;8:e019995.
- 131. Luciano D, Negrete M, Vázquez M, Hale F, Salas J, Alvárez-Rudín M et al. Estudio regional sobre violencia y mujeres con VIH en América Latina. Managua: ICW Latina, HIVOS, Development Connections y Salamander Trust; 2019.
- 132. Violence against children youth survey: findings from a national survey in 2015–2016. Kigali: Rwanda Ministry of Health; 2017 (https:// www.togetherforgirls.org/wp-content/uploads/Rwanda-Violence-Against-Children-and-Youth-Survey-Report.pdf, accessed 21 February 2020).
- 133. National Population Commission of Nigeria, UNICEF Nigeria, US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Violence against children in Nigeria: findings from a national survey, 2014. Abuja: UNICEF Nigeria; 2016 (https://www.togetherforgirls.org/wp-content/ uploads/2014-Nigeria-VACS-Report.pdf, accessed 21 February 2020).
- 134. Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development (Uganda). Uganda violence against children survey: findings from a national survey 2015. Kampala: United Nations Children's Fund; 2015 (https://www.togetherforgirls.org/wp-content/uploads/VACS-REPORT-FINAL-LORES-2-1.pdf, accessed 5 February 2020).
- 135. Ligiero D, Hart C, Fulu E, Thomas A, Radford L. What works to prevent sexual violence against children: evidence review. Washington (DC): Together for Girls; 2019 (https://www.togetherforgirls.org/wp-content/uploads/2019-11-15-What-Works-to-Prevent-Sexual-Violence-Against-Children-Evidence-Review.pdf, accessed 5 February 2020).
- 136. Abrahams N, Jewkes R, Hoffman M, Laubsher R. Sexual violence against intimate partners in Cape Town: prevalence and risk factors reported by men. Bull World Health Organ. 2004;82:330-7.
- 137. Costa BM, Kaestle CE, Walker A, Curtis A, Day A, Toumbourou JW et al. Longitudinal predictors of domestic violence perpetration and victimization: a systematic review. Aggress Violent Behav. 2015;24:261-72.
- 138. Pinheiro P. World report on violence against children. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, United Nations Children Fund, World Health Organization; 2016.
- 139. Global Education Monitoring Report Team, United Nations Girls' Education Initiative. School-related gender-based violence is preventing the achievement of quality education for all. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2015 (http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002321/232107e.pdf, accessed 6 February 2020).

- 140. Kann L, Olsen E, McManus T, Harris W, Shanklin SL, Flint KH et al. Sexual identity, sex of sexual contacts and health-related behaviors among students in Grades 9–12 United States and selected sites, 2015. MMWR. 2016;65(9):1-201.
- 141. Out in the open: education sector responses to violence based on sexual orientation and gender identity/expression. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2016 (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000244756, accessed 6 February 2020).
- 142. Meinck F, Pantelic M, Spreckelsen TF, Orza L, Little MT, Nittas V et al. Interventions to reduce gender-based violence among young people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS in low-income and middle-income countries. AIDS. 2019;33(14):2219-36.
- 143. Mannell J, Willan S, Shahmanesh M, Seeley J, Sherr L, Gibbs A. Why interventions to prevent intimate partner violence and HIV have failed young women in southern Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25380.
- 144. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women). Global guidance on addressing school-related gender-based violence. Paris: UNESCO; 2016 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2016/global-guidance-on-addressing-school-related-gender-based-violence-en.pdf?la=en&vs=4311, accessed 21 February 2020).
- 145. Inspire: seven strategies for ending violence against children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/handle/10665/207717/9789241565356-eng.pdf?sequence=1, accessed 5 February 2020).
- 146. Ruane-McAteer E, Amin A, Hanratty J, Lynn F, van Willenswaard KC, Reid E et al. Interventions addressing men, masculinities and gender equality in sexual and reproductive health and rights: an evidence and gap map and systematic review of reviews. BMJ Global Health. 2019;4(5):e001634.
- 147. Commission on social determinants of health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43943/9789241563703\_eng.pdf;jsess, accessed 21 February 2020).
- 148. Moreau C, Li M, de Meyer S, Manh LV, Guiella G, Archaya R et al. Measuring gender norms about relationships in early adolescence: results from the global early adolescent study. SSM Population Health. 2019;7:100314.
- 149. Hook C, Miller A, Shand T, Stiefvater E. Getting to equal: engaging men and boys in sexual and reproductive health and rights and gender equality. Washington (DC): Promundo; 2018.
- 150. Sileo KM, Fielding-Miller R, Dworkin SL, Fleming PJ. A scoping review on the role of masculine norms in men's engagement in the HIV care continuum in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Care. 2019;31(11):1435-46.
- 151. Dworkin SL, Treves-Kagan S, Lippman SA. Gender-transformative interventions to reduce HIV risks and violence with heterosexuallyactive men: a review of the global evidence. AIDS Behav. 2013;17(9):2845-63.
- 152. Ricardo C, Nascimento M, Fonseca V, Segundo M. Program H and Program M: engaging young men and empowering young women to promote gender equality and health. Washington (DC): Pan American Health Organization & Promundo; 2010 (https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Program-H-and-Program-M-Evaluation.pdf, accessed 5 February 2020).
- 153. Abramsky T, Devries K, Kiss L, Nakuti J, Kyegombe N, Starmann E et al. Findings from the SASA! Study: a cluster randomized controlled trial to assess the impact of a community mobilization intervention to prevent violence against women and reduce HIV risk in Kampala, Uganda. BMC Med. 2014:12;122.
- 154. Heymann J, Levy JK, Bose B, Rios-Salas V, Yehvalashet M, Swaminathan H et al. Improving health with programmatic, legal and policy approaches to reduce gender inequality and change restrictive gender norms. Lancet. 2019;393(10190):2522-34.
- 155. Beijing Platform for Action. Beijing, 15 September 1995.
- 156. Aid in Support of Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment. In: oecd.org [Internet]. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD); c2019 (https://www.oecd.org/dac/stats/aidinsupportofgenderequalityandwomensempowerment.htm, accessed 23 February 2020).
- 157. Miller K, Jones R. Toward a feminist funding ecosystem. Association for Women's Rights in Development; 2019 (https://www.awid.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/awid\_funding\_ecosystem\_2019\_final\_eng.pdf, 22 February 2020).
- 158. Young people's participation in community-based responses to HIV. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2019 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/young-peoples-participation-in-community-based-responses-to-hiv\_en.pdf, accessed 23 February 2020).

# ANNEX

## Figure 7. Percentage of reporting countries with criminalizing laws and coercive policies related to HIV transmission or disclosure, mandatory HIV testing, sex work, drug use and gender identity, 2019

### Laws criminalizing the transmission of, non-disclosure of or exposure to HIV

- 1. UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2019.
- 2. Cameron S, Bernard EJ. Advancing HIV justice 3: growing the global movement against HIV criminalisation. Amsterdam: HIV Justice Network; May 2019.
- 3. Republic of Honduras. Decreto No. 25-2015. In: La Gaceta. 13 November 2015 (https://www.slideshare.net/FundacionLlaves15/ reforma-de-la-ley-especial-del-vih-y-sida-en-honduras).
- 4. Socialist Republic of Viet Nam. Law on HIV/AIDS Prevention and Control. No. 64/2006/QH11 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_protect/---protrav/---ilo\_aids/documents/legaldocument/wcms\_113364.pdf).
- Republic of Angola. Lei n°8/04 sobre o Vírus da Imunodeficiência Humana (VIH) e a Síndroma de Imunodeficiência Adquirida (SIDA). 1 November 2014 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_protect/---protrav/---ilo\_aids/documents/legaldocument/ wcms\_125156.pdf).
- 6. Republic of Ecuador. Ley 11, Registro Oficial 58, 14 de abril de 2000. Ley para la prevencion y asistencia integral del VIH SIDA (http://www.coalicionecuatoriana.org/web/pdfs/LEYPARALAPREVENCIONASISTENCIAINTEGRALDELVIHSIDA.pdf).

### Criminalization of sex work

- 1. UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2019.
- People's Republic of Bangladesh. Penal Code of 1860. Section 290 (https://www.oecd.org/site/adboecdanticorruptioninitiative/46812525.pdf).
- 3. Republic of Kiribati. Penal Code. Article 167. 1977 (http://www.vertic.org/media/National%20Legislation/Kiribati/KI\_Penal\_Code.pdf).
- Malaysia. Act 574: Penal Code. Articles 372, 372A and 373. 1 January 2015 (http://www.agc.gov.my/agcportal/uploads/files/ Publications/LOM/EN/Penal%20Code%20%5BAct%20574%5D2.pdf).
- Antigua and Barbuda. The Sexual Offences Act 1995. Section 21. 21 July 1995 (http://www2.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/ ELECTRONIC/42538/79312/F1146620290/ATG42538.pdf).
- Barbados. Sexual Offences Act. Sections 18 and 20 (https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/BRB/INT\_ CCPR\_NGO\_BRB\_89\_8206\_E.pdf).
- 7. Republic of Cuba. Penal Code. Article 302 (https://www.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/es/cu/cu004es.pdf).
- 8. Kingdom of Eswatini. Crimes Act 61 of 1889. Article 49 (http://www.osall.org.za/docs/2011/03/Swaziland-Crimes-Act-61-of-1889.pdf).
- Kingdom of Eswatini. Sexual Offences and Domestic Violence Act 2018. Articles 13–18. 16 July 2018 (https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/ docs/SERIAL/108709/134536/F1384531235/SWZ108709%20Eng.pdf).
- 10. Kingdom of Lesotho. Penal Code of 2010. Article 55 (https://lesotholii.org/ls/legislation/num-act/6).
- 11. Republic of Madagascar. Penal Code. Article 334bis sub-section 9 (http://www.justice.mg/wp-content/uploads/textes/1TEXTES%20 NATIONAUX/DROIT%20PRIVE/les%20codes/CODE%20PENAL.pdf).
- 12. Republic of Malawi. Penal Code. Article 145 (https://malawilii.org/system/files/consolidatedlegislation/701/penal\_code\_pdf\_14611.pdf).
- Republic of South Africa. Criminal Law (Sexual Offences and Related Matters) Amendment Act 32 of 2007. 14 December 2017 (http://www.justice.gov.za/legislation/acts/2007-032.pdf).
- Republic of South Africa. Sexual Offences Act. 3 April 1957 (https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis\_document/201505/act-23-1957.pdf).
- 15. Republic of Zambia. The Penal Code Act. Article 178a (http://www.parliament.gov.zm/sites/default/files/documents/acts/Penal%20 Code%20Act.pdf).
- Republic of Azerbaijan. The Code of the Azerbaijan Republic on Administrative Offences. 11 July 2000 (https://www.legislationline. org/download/id/3439/file/Azerbaijan\_Code%20on%20Administrative%20offences\_2000\_eng.pdf).
- Republic of Kazakhstan. Penal Code. Article 309. 3 July 2014 (https://www.unodc.org/res/cld/document/penal-code\_html/New\_penal\_code.pdf).
- Republic of Moldova. The Criminal Code of the Republic of Moldova. Article 220 (https://www.legislationline.org/download/id/3559/ file/Criminal%20Code%20RM.pdf).
- 19. Republic of El Salvador. Código Penal. Articles 170 and 170A (https://www.oas.org/dil/esp/Codigo\_Penal\_El\_Salvador.pdf).
- 20. Republic of Guatemala. Código Penal Decreto 9-2009. Article 39 (https://www.refworld.org/pdfid/4a03e3d22.pdf).
- 21. Republic of Nicaragua. Ley 641: Código Penal. Article 178 (https://www.poderjudicial.gob.ni/pjupload/noticia\_reciente/CP\_641.pdf).
- 22. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. Código Penal. Article 382 (http://oas.org/juridico/spanish/mesicic3\_ven\_anexo6.pdf).
- 23. Burkina Faso. Loi no. 025-2018. Articles 533-20, 533-27, 533-28 (https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b5cc0.html).
- 24. Central African Republic. Loi No. 10.001. Code Penal. Article 90 (https://www.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/fr/cf/cf003fr.pdf).

- 25. Republic of Guinea. Penal Code. Articles 346 and 351 (https://www.refworld.org/docid/44a3eb9a4.html).
- 26. Republic of Mali. Loi No. 61-99. Penal Code. Articles 179 and 183. 3 August 1961. (https://wipolex.wipo.int/en/text/193676).
- 27. Republic of Senegal. Penal Code. Article 323 (https://www.refworld.org/docid/49f5d8262.html).
- 28. Republic of Sierra Leone. Sexual Offences Act, 2012. Article 17 (http://www.sierra-leone.org/Laws/2012-12.pdf).
- 29. Togolese Republic. Code Penal du Togo. Article 91. 13 August 1980; revised April 2020 (https://www.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/fr/tg/tg003fr.pdf).

#### Drug possession for personal use is an offence

1. UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2019.

### Mandatory HIV testing

1. UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2019.

#### Criminalization of transgender people

1. UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument, 2017 and 2019.

## Figure 8. Percentage of reporting countries with laws requiring parental or guardian consent for adolescents to access contraceptives, HIV testing, HIV treatment, emergency contraception and harm reduction, by region, 2017–2019

- 1. National guidelines for prevention and management of HIV and STIs. Edition 2016. Kigali: Rwanda Biomedical Centre, Republic of Rwanda Ministry of Health; 2016 (https://aidsfree.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/rw\_national\_guidelines\_hiv.pdf).
- 2. Sexual Rights Initiative [database]. Sexual Rights Initiative; c2016 (http://sexualrightsdatabase.org/map/21/Adult%20sex%20work).
- 3. National HIV testing and counselling policy. Port of Spain: Ministry of Health (Trinidad and Tobago); 2006 (www.health.gov.tt/ downloads/DownloadItem.aspx?id=258).
- Republic of Djibouti. Décret N° 2008-0182/PR/MS portant institution des normes et directives en matière de Conseil Dépistage Volontaire du VIH/SIDA en République de Djibouti. Article 19 (http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_protect/---protrav/---ilo\_aids/documents/legaldocument/wcms\_126992.pdf).
- 5. Global Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health Policy Survey, 2018–2019 [database]. In: who.int [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; c2020 (https://www.who.int/data/maternal-newborn-child-adolescent/national-policies/).

#### Figure 14. Percentage of female sex workers experiencing physical and sexual violence, selected countries, 2014–2018

- 1. Markosyan K, Lang DL, DiClemente RJ. Correlates of inconsistent refusal of unprotected sex among Armenian female sex workers. AIDS Res Treat. 2014;2014:314145.
- Katz KR, McDowell M, Green M, Jahan S, Johnson L, Chen M. Understanding the broader sexual and reproductive health needs of female sex workers in Dhaka, Bangladesh. Int Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2015;41(4):189-90.
- Tounkara F, Diabaté S, Guédou FA, Ahoussinou C, Kintin F, Zannou DM et al. Violence, condom breakage, and HIV infection among female sex workers in Benin, West Africa. Sex Transm Dis. 2014;41(5):312-8.
- 4. Grosso A, Ketende S, Dam K, Papworth E, Ouedraogo HG, Ky-Zerbo O et al. Structural determinants of health among women who started selling sex as minors in Burkina Faso. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015;68(Suppl 2):S162-70.
- 5. Draughon Moret JE, Carrico AW, Evans JL, Stein ES, Couture MC, Maher L et al. The impact of violence on sex risk and drug use behaviors among women engaged in sex work in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2016;161:171-7.
- Decker MR, Lyons C, Billong SC, Njindam IM, Grosso A, Nunez GT et al. Gender-based violence against female sex workers in Cameroon: prevalence and associations with sexual HIV risk and access to health services and justice. Sex Transm Infect. 2016;92(8):599-604.
- 7. Shannon K, Bright V, Gibson K, Tyndall MW; Maka Project Partnership. Sexual and drug-related vulnerabilities for HIV infection among women engaged in survival sex work in Vancouver, Canada. Can J Public Health. 2017;98(6):465-9.
- 8. Zhang L, Li X, Wang B, Shen Z, Zhou Y, Xu J et al. Violence, stigma and mental health among female sex workers in China: a structural equation modeling. Women Health. 2017;57(6):685-704.
- 9. Zhang X, Myers S, Yang HJ, Li Y, Li JH, Luo W et al. Prevalence and correlates of sexual and gender-based violence against Chinese adolescent women who are involved in commercial sex: a cross-sectional study. BMJ. 2016;6(12):e013409.
- Lyons C, Grosso A, Drame FM, Ketende S, Diouf D, Ba I et al. Physical and sexual violence affecting female sex workers in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire: prevalence, and the relationship with the work environment, HIV, and access to health services. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;75(1):9-17.
- 11. Štulhofer A, Sinković M, Božić J, Baćak V. Victimization and HIV risks among Croatian female sex workers: exploring the mediation role of depressiveness and the moderation role of social support. Violence Against Women. 2017;23(1):67-8.
- 12. Mendoza C, Barrington C, Donastorg Y, Perez M, Fleming PJ, Decker MR et al. Violence from a sexual partner is significantly associated with poor HIV care and treatment outcomes among female sex workers in the Dominican Republic. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;4(3):273-8.
- 13. Tamene M, Tessema GA, Beyera GK. Condom utilization and sexual behavior of female sex workers in Northwest Ethiopia: a crosssectional study. Pan Afr Med. 2015;21:50.
- Mossman E, Roguski M, Ravuidi R, Devi R. Integrated biological behavioural surveillance survey and size estimation of sex workers in Fiji: HIV prevention project. Suva: UNAIDS Pacific Office, Ministry of Health (Fiji), Fiji National University; 2012 (https://www.nswp.org/ sites/nswp.org/files/IBBS%20Sex%20Worker%20Final%20Report.pdf).

- 15. Aho J, Koushik A, Coutlée F, Diakité SL, Rashed S. Prevalence of HIV, human papillomavirus type 16 and herpes simplex virus type 2 among female sex workers in Guinea and associated factors. Int J STD AIDS. 2014;25(4):280-8.
- Reed E, Erausquin JT, Groves AK, Salazar M, Biradavolu M, Blankenship KM. Client-perpetrated and husband-perpetrated violence among female sex workers in Andhra Pradesh, India: HIV/STI risk across personal and work contexts. Sex Transm Infect. 2016;92(6):424-9.
- 17. Shokoohi M, Noori A, Karamouzian M, Sharifi H, Khajehkazemi R, Fahimfar N et al. Remaining gap in HIV testing uptake among female sex workers in Iran. AIDS Behav. 2017;21(8):2401-11.
- 18. Parcesepe A, L'Engle KL, Martin SL, Green S, Suchindran C, Mwarogo P et al. Early sex work initiation and violence against female sex workers in Mombasa, Kenya. J Urban Health. 2016;93(6);1010-26.
- Seldman D, Rusch M, Abramovitz D, Stockman JK, Martinez G, Rangel G et al. Intravaginal practices among HIV-negative female sex workers along the US–Mexico border and their implications for emerging HIV prevention interventions. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2016;133(2):212-6.
- 20. Tsai L, Carlson CE, Aira T, Norcini Pala A, Riedel M, Witte SS et al. The impact of a microsavings intervention on reducing violence against women engaged in sex work: a randomized controlled study. BMC Int Health Hum Rights. 2016;16(1):27.
- Lafort Y, Lessitala F, Candrinho B, Greener L, Greener R, Beksinska M et al. Barriers to HIV and sexual and reproductive health care for female sex workers in Tete, Mozambique: results from a cross-sectional survey and focus group discussions. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:608.
- 22. Deuba K, Anderson S, Ekström AM, Pandey SR, Shrestha R, Karki DK et al. Micro-level social and structural factors act synergistically to increase HIV risk among Nepalese female sex workers. Int J Infect Dis. 2016;49:100-6.
- 23. Wand H, Siba P. Prevalence and correlates of HIV infection among sex workers in Papua New Guinea: first results from the Papua New Guinea and Australia Sexual Health Improvement Project (PASHIP). AIDS Behav. 2015;19(12):2194-203.
- 24. Wirtz A, Peryshkina A, Mogilniy V, Beyrer C, Decker MR. Current and recent drug use intensifies sexual and structural HIV risk outcomes among female sex workers in the Russian Federation. Int J Drug Policy. 2015;26(8):755-63.
- Giorgio M, Townsend L, Zembe Y, Cheyip M, Guttmacher S, Kapadia F et al. The relationship between social support, HIV serostatus, and perceived likelihood of being HIV-positive among self-settled female, foreign migrants in Cape Town, South Africa. J Immigr Minor Health. 2017;19(4):889-90.
- 26. Integrated biological and behavioural surveillance (IBBS) survey among key populations at higher risk of HIV in Sri Lanka. Colombo: National STD/AIDS Control Programme (Sri Lanka), Management Frontiers Ltd; 2015 (https://www.aidsdatahub.org/sites/default/ files/publication/IBBS\_Survey\_in\_Sri\_lanka\_2014.pdf).
- 27. Berger BO, Grosso A, Adams D, Ketende S, Sithole B, Mabuza XS et al. The prevalence and correlates of physical and sexual violence affecting female sex workers in Eswatini. J Interpers Violence. 2016;33(17):2745-66.
- 28. Sherwood J, Grosso A, Decker MR, Peitzmeier S, Papworth E, Diouf D et al. Sexual violence against female sex workers in The Gambia: a cross-sectional examination of the associations between victimization and reproductive, sexual and mental health. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:270.
- 29. Erickson M, Goldenberg SM, Akello M, Muzaaya G, Nguyen P, Birungi J et al. Incarceration and exposure to internally displaced persons camps associated with reproductive rights abuses among sex workers in northern Uganda. J Fam Plann Reproduc Health Care. 2017;43(3):201-9.
- 30. Hankel J, Dewey S, Martinez N. Women exiting street-based sex work: correlations between ethno-racial identity, number of children, and violent experiences. J Evid Inf Soc Work. 2016;13(4):412-24.
- Chanda M, Ortblad KF, Mwale M, Chongo S, Kanchele C, Kamungoma N et al. HIV self-testing among female sex workers in Zambia: a cluster randomized controlled trial. PLoS Med. 2017;14(11):e1002442.
- 32. Cowan F, Davey CB, Fearon E, Mushati P, Dirawo J, Cambiano V et al. The HIV care cascade among female sex workers in Zimbabwe: results of a population-based survey from the Sisters Antiretroviral Therapy Programme for Prevention of HIV, an Integrated Response (SAPPH-IRe) Trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;74(4):375-82.

UNAIDS and the Global HIV Prevention Coalition would like to acknowledge the contribution of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development Sub-Fund under the Peace and Development Fund.

## Copyright: © 2020

Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) All rights reserved.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNAIDS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. UNAIDS does not warrant that the information published in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

UNAIDS/JC2985



UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland +41 22 791 3666

unaids.org